
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tuesday, 11 July 2017 
11.00 am 
 
 
 
 
 

5th Floor Conference Suite, 5th Floor (South 
side), Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street,. 
London, EC1M 5LG 
 
 



 

 

 

Guidance notes for members and visitors 
Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street, London, EC1M 5LG 

 

Please read these notes for your own safety and that of all visitors, staff and tenants. 
 
Welcome! 
Layden House is located directly opposite the Turnmill Street entrance to Farringdon station, which is 
served by the Circle, Hammersmith & City, and Metropolitan lines as well as the Thameslink national 
rail route.  
 
Security 
Layden House has a swipe card access system meaning that a swipe enabled security passes will 
be required to access the lifts and floors 1-5.   
 
Most LGA governance structure meetings will take place on the ground floor of Layden House 
which is open access and therefore does not require a swipe enabled security pass.  Access to the 
rest of the building (floors 1-5) is via swipe enabled security passes. 
 
When you visit Layden House, please show your Local Government House security pass to 
reception and they will provide you with a temporary pass which will allow you access to  floors 1  5 
if required.  Please don’t forget to sign out at reception and return your security pass when 
you depart. 
 
If you do not have a LGH Security Pass, please email member services with your name and a recent 
photo and a pass will be made for you. You can pick this up from the Layden House reception desk 
on your next visit. 
 
Fire instructions 
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, vacate the building immediately via the nearest fire exit onto 
Turnmill Street and take the next turning on your left – Benjamin Street to St John’s Gardens. 
DO NOT USE THE LIFTS. 
DO NOT STOP TO COLLECT PERSONAL BELONGINGS. 
DO NOT RE-ENTER BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO. 
 
Soft Seating Area  
There is a small soft seating area on Floor 2 which will also operate as an ‘Open Council’ area for 
visiting members and officers from member councils.  Please note however that unlike Open Council, 
this area does not have tea and coffee facilities, nor access to computers.     
 
Toilets 
There are accessible toilets on the Ground Floor, 2nd and 4th floors.   
 
Accessibility 
If you have special access needs, please let the meeting contact know in advance and we will do our 
best to make suitable arrangements to meet your requirements. 
 
Parking is available at the rear of the building for Blue Badge holders, accessed via the Turks Head 
Yard, North underpass.  Disabled WCs are situated on the ground and 4th floors. An induction loop 
system is available in the 5th floor conference venue.  For further information please contact the 
Facilities Management Helpdesk on 020 7664 3015. 
 
 
 

mailto:memberservices@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
Guest WiFi in Layden House  
WiFi is available in Layden House for visitors. It can be accessed by enabling “Wireless Network 
Connection” on your computer and connecting to LGA-Free-WiFi. You will then need to register,  
either by completing a form or through your Facebook or Twitter account (if you have one). You only 
need to register the first time you log on.  
 
Further help 
Please speak either to staff at the main reception on the ground floor, if you require any further help 
or information. You can find the LGA website at www.local.gov.uk  
 
Why have the LGA’s Headquarters moved?  
The LGA has temporarily relocated from Local Government House (LGH) in Smith Square to Layden 
House in Farringdon, effective from Monday 31 October 2016.  This is to allow extensive 
refurbishment work to be carried out to LGH.  
 
The refurbishment works will see the ground floor conference centre and all meeting rooms fully 
refurbished. Floors 1, 2 and 3 will be upgraded and released for commercial letting to enable the 
LGA to maximise the income from this building as part of its drive for financial sustainability. A new 
and larger Open Council will be located on the seventh floor. The refurbishment is expected to last 
for twelve months and we expect to be back in LGH by October 2017. 
 

We appreciate your understanding and flexibility during this time. 

 

http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Improvement & Innovation Board 
11 July 2017 

 

There will be a meeting of the Improvement & Innovation Board at 11.00 am on Tuesday, 11 July 
2017 5th Floor Conference Suite, 5th Floor (South side), Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street,. 
London, EC1M 5LG. 
 

A sandwich lunch will be available at 1.00pm 
 

Attendance Sheet: 
Please ensure that you sign the attendance register, which will be available in the meeting room.  It 
is the only record of your presence at the meeting. 
 

Political Group meetings: 
The group meetings will take place from 10.00 -11.00am. Please contact your political group as 
outlined below for further details. 
 

Apologies: 
Please notify your political group office (see contact telephone numbers below) if you are unable to 
attend this meeting. 
 
Conservative: Group Office: 020 7664 3223     email:     lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk   
Labour:  Group Office: 020 7664 3334     email:     Labour.GroupLGA@local.gov.uk  
Independent:  Group Office: 020 7664 3224     email:     independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk   
Liberal Democrat: Group Office: 020 7664 3235     email:     libdem@local.gov.uk 
 

Location:  
A map showing the location of Layden House is printed on the back cover.   
 

LGA Contact:  
Jess Norman 
0207 664 3221 / jessica.norman@local.gov.uk 
 

Carers’ Allowance  
As part of the LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme a Carer’s Allowance of up to £7.50 per hour is 
available to cover the cost of dependants (i.e. children, elderly people or people with disabilities) 
incurred as a result of attending this meeting. 
 

Social Media 
The LGA is committed to using social media in a co-ordinated and sensible way, as part of a 
strategic approach to communications, to help enhance the reputation of local government, 
improvement engagement with different elements of the community and drive efficiency. Please feel 
free to use social media during this meeting. However, you are requested not to use social media 
during any confidential items. 
 

The twitter hashtag for this meeting is #lgaiib 
 

mailto:lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk
mailto:Labour.GroupLGA@local.gov.uk
mailto:independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk
mailto:libdem@local.gov.uk


 

 

 

 
Improvement & Innovation Board – Membership 2016/2017 
 
Councillor Authority 

  
Conservative ( 8)  
Cllr William Nunn (Chairman) Breckland Council 

Cllr Peter Fleming OBE Sevenoaks District Council 
Cllr Robert Gould Dorset County Council 

Cllr Linda Robinson Wychavon District Council 
Cllr Harvey Siggs Somerset County Council 

Cllr Michael Wilcox Lichfield District Council 
Cllr Barry Wood Cherwell District Council 

Cllr Glen Sanderson JP (Observer) Northumberland Council 
Substitutes  

Cllr David Finch Essex County Council 
Cllr Dominic Gilham Hillingdon London Borough Council 

Cllr Richard Wenham Central Bedfordshire Council 
  
Labour ( 8)  
Cllr Judi Billing MBE (Deputy Chair) North Hertfordshire District Council 

Cllr Bob Price Oxford City Council 
Cllr Phil Davies Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 

Cllr Andy Moorhead Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council 
Cllr Tudor Evans OBE Plymouth City Council 

Cllr Sue Woodward Staffordshire County Council 
Vacancy Labour Group 

Sir Stephen Houghton CBE 
(Observer) 

Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 

Substitutes  

Cllr Amy Cross Blackpool Council 
Cllr Nicole Meardon Cheshire West and Chester Council 

Cllr Colin Glover Carlisle City Council 
  
Independent ( 3)  
Cllr Ron Woodley (Deputy Chair) Southend-on-Sea Borough Council 

Cllr Bob Jennings Epping Forest District Council 
Cllr Mike Haines (Observer) Teignbridge District Council 

Substitutes  
Cllr Andrew Stringer Mid Suffolk District Council 

  

Liberal Democrat ( 3)  

Mayor Dave Hodgeson MBE (Vice-
Chair) 

Bedford Borough Council 

Cllr Cherry Beath Bath & North East Somerset Council 

Cllr Howard Sykes (Observer) Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council 

Substitutes  

Cllr David Neighbour Hart District Council 

  

Observers  

Mr Richard Priestman Local Government Improvement and Development 

Mr Philip Sellwood Energy Saving Trust 

 



 

 

 
 

Improvement & Innovation Board – Attendance for 2016/17 
 

Councillors 29/11/16 24/01/17 08/03/17 

    

Conservative Group    

Councillor William Nunn Yes Yes Yes 

Councillor Peter Fleming OBE Yes Yes Yes 

Councillor Robert Gould Yes Yes No 

Councillor Linda Robinson Yes Yes Yes 

Councillor Harvey Siggs Yes Yes Yes 

Councillor Michael Wilcox Yes Yes Yes 

Councillor Barry Wood Yes Yes Yes 

    

Labour Group    

Councillor Judi Billing MBE Yes Yes Yes 

Councillor Bob Price Yes No Yes 

Councillor Phil Davies Yes Yes Yes 

Councillor Andy Moorhead Yes Yes No 

Councillor Tudor Evans OBE Yes Yes No 

Councillor Sue Woodward Yes Yes Yes 

Councillor Sue Whitaker Yes Yes Yes 

    

Independent    

Councillor Ron Woodley Yes Yes Yes 

Councillor Bob Jennings Yes Yes Yes 

    

Lib Dem Group    

Mayor Dave Hodgson MBE No Yes Yes 

Councillor Cherry Beath Yes No Yes 

    

Substitutes    

David Neighbour Yes No No 

Amy Cross Yes No Yes 

Nicole Meardon Yes Yes No 

Richard Wenham Yes No No 

    

Observers    

Philip Sellwood Yes No Yes 

Richard Priestman Yes Yes Yes 

    

Lead Peers    

Mike Haines Yes Yes Yes 

Howard Sykes No Yes Yes 

Glen Sanderson Yes Yes Yes 

Stephen Houghton CBE Yes No Yes 

Phelim MacCafferty Yes No - 



 

 

 
 

 

Agenda 
 

Improvement & Innovation Board 
 
Tuesday 11 July 2017 
 
11.00 am 
 
5th Floor Conference Suite, 5th Floor (South side), Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street,. 
London, EC1M 5LG 
 

 
 

 Item Page 
 

1.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

2.   Note of the Previous Meeting 
 

1 - 6  

3.   Productivity Programme 
 

7 - 22  

4.   Performance Report and MOU for 2017/18 
 

23 - 84  

5.   Improvement support to councils around community 
cohesion, counter extremism and Prevent 
 

85 - 90  

6.   Highlighting Leadership offer: 2016/17 final outturn 
and 2017/18 work priorities 
 

91 - 98  

7.   Innovation Zone at LGA annual conference 
 

99 - 102  

8.   LGA Boards' improvement activity 
 

103 - 113  

  
 

  

 
 
 Date of Next Meeting: Tuesday, 24 October 2017, 11.00 am, TBC 
 





 
 

 

 

Improvement & 

Innovation  Board  

11 July 2017   

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Note of last Improvement & Innovation Board meeting 
 

Title: 
 

Improvement & Innovation Board 

Date: 
 

Wednesday 8 March 2017 

Venue: Rooms A&B, Ground Floor, Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street, 
London, EC1M 5LG 

  

 
Attendance 
An attendance list is attached as Appendix A to this note 

 
 

Item Decisions and actions 
 

1   Declarations of Interest 
  

 

 No declarations of interest were made. 
 
The apologies were noted as listed at Appendix A. 
 

 

2   Note of the Previous Meeting 
  

 

 Cllr Judi Billing gave an update on Item 7 from the minutes. She thanked the LGA for the 
successful launch of #NewConversations guidance to help councils engage and consult 
communities effectively, but expressed disappointment at the numbers of councillors 
present. She announced proposals for a second event likely to be in Bradford, in June and 
that all Board members would be invited to attend. Members were invited to share any 
particular community engagement issues for further exploration as part of the programme.    
 
Decision 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed. 

 

3   Productivity Programme 
  

 

 Alan Finch (Principal Adviser, Finance and Productivity) introduced the paper, which 
updated on the LGA’s Productivity Programme over the second half of 2016/17. He 
highlighted that the programme was on track to achieve its objectives as set by 
Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG).  
 
Cllr Sue Woodward (Staffordshire County Council) and Wayne Mortiboys (Staffordshire 
County Council District Commissioning Lead, Lichfield) then gave a presentation on the 
councils’ work as part of the LGA funded Design in the Public Sector Programme to 
develop a community-based approach to its work with ‘at risk’ families. In doing so, they 
summarised the creation of a community interest company ‘Spark’ and their joint working 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 
 

 

Improvement & 

Innovation  Board  

11 July 2017   

 

 

to retain and run some children’s centres which would otherwise have closed. Wayne 
outlined the project process, associated costs, intended user-base, plans for future 
evaluation and lessons learned such as adapting the model for potential restructuring of 
libraries in the same area. The Board were invited to undertake a site visit to see the 
centre first hand should they wish.     
 
Discussion 
 
In the discussion that followed, Members’ comments included:  
 

LGA Productivity Programme   

 During the discussion, members asked that the format of the report be augmented 
to provide a high level summary of key projects, their objectives, outcomes and the 
extent to which objectives are on track to be met, or not.  

 

 Members asked about the criteria for and monitoring of grant allocations, to ensure 
a good balance and if there was a correlation between those authorities yet to 
undertake a Corporate Peer Challenge (CPC) and those applying for grants as part 
of the productivity programme.   

 
Staffordshire County Council presentation  

 Members thanked Cllr Woodward and Wayne Mortiboys for their presentation and 
enquired about evidence that there was a greater utilisation of the ‘Spark’ centres 
by target groups and the cost implications.  

 
Decisions 
 
That the Improvement and Innovation Board:  

i. noted the contents of the report; and 
ii. agreed that more robust evaluation, monitoring and reporting mechanisms be 

implemented to ensure that the programme meets its objectives; 
iii. Cllr Woodward and Wayne Mortiboys be thanked for their presentation. 

 
Actions 
 

1. Specify individual project objectives and whether they have been met in future 
updates, through a clear reporting template. Alan Finch  

2. Share assessment criteria for digital grants programme to inform members about 
the process. Alan Finch  

3. Provide members with a digital version of the presentation. Jess Norman  
4. Analyse take up of support and cross-reference to take up of the CPC process. 

Alan Finch  
 

4   Independent Evaluation of the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 
Programme: responding to the recommendations 
  

 

 Andy Bates (Principal Adviser) introduced the item which set out the findings of the 
independent evaluation of the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge programme, along with the 
initial response. Some recommendations were being considered for immediate 
implementation, whilst Members’ guidance was sought on a number of other 
recommendations outlined in the report. 

Page 2

Agenda Item 2



 
 

 

Improvement & 

Innovation  Board  

11 July 2017   

 

 

 
Discussion 
 
In the discussion that followed, Members comments’ included:  
 

 Members of the Board discussed the report from Cardiff University and expressed 
disappointment that it had not gone further in identifying more tangible or 
quantifiable data evidencing the impact of the Corporate Peer Challenge. Members 
highlighted the importance of evidencing the impact as an integral part of 
continuing to strengthen the sector-led improvement offer. 

 

 Going forward, the Board suggested securing more systematic, structured and 
quantitative feedback from Leaders and Chief Executives from participating 
councils. 

 

 Whilst considering the recommendations in paragraph 7 of the report, members 
highlighted that a number of the recommendations already reflect current LGA 
practice.   

 

 The Board discussed the challenge of encouraging all councils to actively engage 
in peer challenges and highlighted the importance of a proactive approach so as to 
mitigate against any potential future Government intervention. In doing so, the 
value of opposition members in making the case for CPCs within their authorities 
was emphasised. 

 

 Members agreed the aim of the recommendation at 7.14, but concluded that 
publication of non-engaging councils would not necessarily deliver the desired 
outcome and risked being counterproductive. Members noted that details of non-
participating councils were already shared with Lead Members and the political 
group offices to purse through political channels.  
 

 Members also suggested that meetings of the appropriate lead regional member 
peer and Principal Adviser with the Leader and Chief Executive might be a good 
way of overcoming any reluctance to take up the CPC offer, along with professional 
routes where necessary and appropriate. 
 

 Whilst the Board concurred with 7.19 in principle, members noted that where 
Member Peers were not from the ruling group, the expectation should be for them 
to seek to influence and encourage take up by their authority. 

 
Decisions 
 
The Improvement and Innovation Board:  

i. noted the key findings from the independent evaluation of the LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge Programme;  

ii. agreed the evaluation’s recommendations and LGA’s initial responses as set out in 
paragraph 7.1 to 7.13; 

iii. agreed that the recommendation to publish a list of councils that have not yet 
engaged with CPC (paragraph 7.14) not be adopted; 

iv. agreed recommendations and actions 7.17 – 7.19, subject to amendment to reflect 
differing expectations for Member Peers that were not from within the ruling group; 
and  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 
 

 

Improvement & 

Innovation  Board  

11 July 2017   

 

 

v. agreed that systematic and structured feedback following Peer Reviews be sought 
from elected members and officers within participating councils. 

 
Actions 
 
1. Continue to provide a confidential list of those authorities currently yet to undertake or 

commit to a CPC to Lead Members and Political Group Offices. Paul Clarke 
2. Implement systematic and structured post CPC feedback mechanisms with 

participating members and officers. Principle Advisers 
 

5   LGA Boards’ Improvement Activity 
  

 

 Nick Easton (Improvement Co-ordination Manager) introduced this item which provided an 
update on improvement activity undertaken by the other eight policy Boards since the last 
I&I Board meeting. 
 
Discussion 
 
Members raised the issue that following the presentation on integration by Dame Louise 
Casey (Director General, Casey Review Team) at the LGA Executive the previous week, 
the improvement team should consider how best to support improvement in this area. 
 
Decisions 
 
The Improvement and Innovation Board:  

i. noted the contents of the progress report on improvement activity undertaken by 
other LGA Boards; and  

ii. asked that officers report to Lead Members on proposals for supporting community 
cohesion improvement in the light of the Casey review on Integration. 

 
Action 
 
Consider appropriate improvement support tools to support councils with community 
cohesion and integration and report back to a future I&I Board Lead Members meeting in 
the first instance. Mark Norris 

 

6   Confidential 
  

 

 The remainder of the items on the agenda were confidential, any press or public present 
were excluded from the meeting. 

 

7   Reputation campaign: Presentation 
  

 

 Hannah Berry (Head of Campaigns and Digital Communications) presented the item, 
which was followed by a confidential discussion. Members agreed a decision in line with 
their discussion. 

 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



 
 

 

Improvement & 

Innovation  Board  

11 July 2017   

 

 

Appendix A - Attendance  
 

Position/Role Councillor Authority 
   
Chairman Cllr William Nunn Breckland Council 
Vice-Chairman Mayor Dave Hodgson 

MBE 
Bedford Borough Council 

Deputy-chairman Cllr Judi Billing MBE North Hertfordshire District Council 
 Cllr Ron Woodley Southend-on-Sea Borough Council 

 
Members Cllr Peter Fleming OBE Sevenoaks District Council 
 Cllr Linda Robinson Wychavon District Council 
 Cllr Harvey Siggs Somerset County Council 
 Cllr Michael Wilcox Lichfield District Council 
 Cllr Barry Wood Cherwell District Council 
 Cllr Bob Price Oxford City Council 
 Cllr Phil Davies Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Cllr Sue Woodward Staffordshire County Council 
 Cllr Sue Whitaker Norfolk County Council 
 Cllr Bob Jennings Epping Forest District Council 
 Cllr Cherry Beath Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 Cllr Glen Sanderson JP Northumberland Council 
 Sir Stephen Houghton 

CBE 
Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 

 Cllr Mike Haines Teignbridge District Council 
 Cllr Howard Sykes MBE Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Mr Richard Priestman Local Government Improvement and 

Development 
 Mr Philip Sellwood Energy Saving Trust (EST) 

 
Apologies Cllr Robert Gould Dorset County Council 
 Cllr Andy Moorhead Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Cllr Tudor Evans OBE Plymouth City Council 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2





 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July  2017 

 

     

Productivity Programme   

 
Purpose  
 
For information. 
 
Summary 
 
This report briefs the Board on the progress being made in the Productivity Programme 
confirming the main achievements of 2016/17 and setting out plans for 2017/18 and progress 
made in delivering them in the first quarter of the year. Appendix 1 provides a summary of 
the main outputs for the quarter.   
 

There will be a presentation by Tim Pearse, Head of Local Government at BIT (the 

Behavioural Insights Team) on our work with them and a number of councils on using 

‘nudge’ techniques to influence service demand. (Section 6 and Appendix 2 of the report 

refer to this). 

 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
That the Improvement & Innovation Board note the updates and progress on the 
Productivity Programme and to provide such guidance as the Board considers necessary to 
ensure that the programme meets its objectives.  
 
Action 
 
Officers to pursue the activities outlined in the light of member guidance. 
 

 
 
 

Contact officer:  Alan Finch  

Position: Principal Adviser, Finance & Productivity  

Phone no: 020 7664 3085  

Email: alan.finch@local.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 7

Agenda Item 3

mailto:alan.finch@local.gov.uk


 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

 
Productivity Programme 
 
Background 
 
1. The Productivity Programme comprises a range of projects to help improve productivity 

and efficiency in councils through delivering savings, generating income and making 
better use of assets. The programme is devised by reference to the Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU) agreed with the Department of Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG).  

2. Local authorities can reduce their financial dependence on government and their call on 
local taxpayers in three ways: 

2.1. Transforming services - either to make them more efficient and less wasteful or to 
find more effective ways of delivering to local people’s needs.  

2.2. Smarter sourcing - commissioning and buying the services, goods and works that 
contribute to local outcomes more effectively and, where possible, more cheaply, and 
managing the resulting contracts to optimise value from them.  

2.3. Generating income - which involves generating a greater proportion of funding 
locally, such as by commercialising the authority’s existing skills, assets or 
commodities or investing to grow the local economy to generate wealth for the area.  

3. The productivity programme contains work that will support local authorities in each of 
these three areas and several of our projects cut across more than one. Our programme 
complements and supplements the work of other agencies we work with such as the 
Cabinet Office, Crown Commercial Services and Local Partnerships.   

Issues 

Transforming Services  

Digital workstream  

4. The LGA is working with councils to maximise the opportunities and better understand 
the risks that digitalisation creates, to ensure that Councils are well prepared to make 
effective, efficient use of digital technology and play a full part in digital aspects of various 
government strategies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 8

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

Achievements in 2016/17  

Objective  Achieved  

Funded 27 Digital Expert council led 
projects early in 2015 to use digital tools 
and solutions to redesign and improve 
access to council services. 

Case studies for these projects were 
published in Autumn of 2016.  

An end of programme report was published in 
February. This highlights the benefits 
generated from these projects which includes 
over £2 million in savings and £0.6 million in 
income generated. It also draws out the 
learning from across all the projects and 
highlights the key elements to delivering a 
successful digital project.  

In 2016, funded a further 16 council led 
projects to use digital tools and 
approaches to support their work on 
national programmes of transformation 
including; Troubled Families, the 
integration of health and social care and 
welfare reform.  

These projects are due to complete their 
work during 2017/18 so we will shortly 
commission the evaluation to capture, the 
impact, the assets and savings generated to 
help share the learning from them. The 
estimated savings generated by these 
projects is £2 million.  

In February 2017, awarded funding to 
support work on ‘channel shift’ – using 
digital technology to ensure that residents 
who choose to can access council 
services more quickly and easily.   

Funding has been awarded to 23 councils 
and delivery will be monitored and evaluated 
throughout the year. The case studies and 
final evaluation will be carried out in 2018. 
The projected savings are £1 million.  

Plans and Progress   

5. We will continue to develop resources and good practice (including case studies) from 
our digital transformation and channel shift projects and data programmes and share 
these widely with councils. We will also provide tailored support to councils promoting 
ambitious use of digital to provide efficient public services. 

6. We plan to apply the same model used for the Productivity Experts (see section 10 
below), enabling councils to access expert support in ways that unlock larger savings.    

Cyber Security: 

7. Cyber security is an issue of growing importance to the nation and we have worked for 
some years with councils to ensure that the sector is addressing the challenge 
appropriately.  

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

Achievements in 2016/17  

Proactively support the widening of digital 
and cyber resilience awareness across 
local authorities and their active 
participation in the national Cyber - 
Security Information Sharing Partnership 
(CiSP) 

 

Drafted a sector wide response the National 
Cyber Security Centre's prospectus which set 
out the work councils are already doing to 
mitigate against cyber-attacks, the sector's 
concerns and recommendations as well as 
how we would like to work with the NCSC. 
 
Set up and running the LG Cyber Security 
Stakeholder Group which brings together 
various sector representative bodies 
including, Solace, ADASS, CIPFA, Socitm 
alongside the NCSC,Cabinet Office and 
DCLG. The aim of this group is to get cyber 
security onto the agenda at a strategic level 
in councils. We have hosted four meetings 
and agreed a number of actions. 
 
Sarah Pickup spoke about Cyber Security at 
a number of conferences including a DCLG 
National Cyber Resilience conferences in 
December and February, the Health and 
Social Care cyber security conference and a 
Tech UK IT suppliers workshop. 

Hosted a cyber security workshop at the LGA 
Conference with NHS Digital a keynote 
speaker drawing on the lessons of the recent 
NHS cyber-attack.  

Plans and Progress  

8. We are continuing to support the delivery of the National Cyber Security Strategy   by 

widening digital and cyber resilience awareness across local authorities; hosting the 

Cyber Security Stakeholder group; and developing by 31st July 2017, and then helping 

coordinate the delivery, with others, of a plan of support on cyber security work  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 10

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

Shared Services and Collaboration  

Achievements in 2016/17  

Refresh the LGA Shared Services map in 
2016  

The LGA Shared Services map was updated 
for 2016 and relaunched in May and shows 
that the vast majority of councils are involved 
in shared service arrangements across the 
country. These arrangements are contributing 
to accumulated savings of more than half a 
billion pounds. 

Launch a matchmaking service for 
councils interested in sharing services  

 

 

 

We have also launched a shared services 
match making service to provide assistance 
to support councils who wish to share 
services and/or management teams with 
other councils. The offer includes access to 
funding for a dedicated shared service expert 
and/or paid for external mediation advice and 
support. 

Plans and Progress  

9. The 2017 refresh of the shared services map was published in June showing that a total 

of £619 million of savings has now been delivered by councils through shared services 

since the map was inaugurated in 2012. We will continue to support councils to increase 

the level of savings achieved through shared services by continuing to run a 

matchmaking service for councils contemplating making greater use of shared services 

or to expand their existing arrangements and explore the extension of the matchmaking 

principle to other areas e.g. digital collaboration. 

Managing Demand & Service Design - Behavioural Insights Programme 

Achievements in 2016/17  

Collaborate with the Behaviour Insights 
Team to work with 5 councils aimed at 
piloting new ways of managing demand 
and improving outcomes in adult social 
care, public health and adult skills 

 

The behavioural insights pilots for phase 1 of the 
programme are about to finish with reports to be 
published on each of them - managing service 
demand into Adults Social Care in Leeds, 
Reducing sugar consumption in hospitals in 
Liverpool and increasing skills training take up 
amongst employers in Lincolnshire. Support for 
a further eight councils has been agreed for 
phase 2 looking at issues including: reducing 
domestic violence, reducing demand on housing 
services amongst under 35's and increasing 
take-up of online sexual health testing services. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

Plans and Progress 

10. Towards the end of 2016/17 funding was awarded to four further projects: 

10.1. Reducing sugar consumption in schools – Brighton and Hove Council   

10.2. Reduce incidents and impact of domestic abuse – Kent County Council 

10.3. To increase the uptake of online STI testing – LB Lambeth and Southwark 

10.4. Reduce demand on Housing service – Tunbridge Wells and 5 neighbouring district 
councils. 

11. These projects will be supported and monitored during 2017/18 with a view to publication 
of outcomes and lessons learned towards the end of the year. 

12. We will support a further eight councils during 2017/18 and develop a ‘top tips’ guide to 
the use of behavioural insights to manage demand and run a national conference on the 
use of behavioural insights in local government later in the year. 

13. Appendix 2 Provides more detail on the behavioural insights schemes that have been 
funded. 

Design in the Public Sector 

14. We have been working with the Design Council to support councils to examine the ways 
in which they deliver services and how they can be redesigned to save costs and improve 
their effectiveness.  The project has been pursued on a region-by-region basis.  

Achievements in 2016/17  

Equip 10 councils to use design 
techniques to improve services and 
or manage future demand. 

To date a total of 15 councils have received 
support through this programme. The West 
Midlands cohort of seven councils (Coventry, 
Wolverhampton, Staffordshire, Lichfield, 
Herefordshire, South Staffs, Shropshire) has 
finished the Design in Public Services programme.  
 
The eight councils from the East Midlands 
(Northamptonshire, Hinckley and Bosworth, 
Cambridgeshire, Blaby, Ashfield, South Kesteven, 
Leicestershire and Milton Keynes) started in 
Nottingham in September 2016 

Plans and Progress  

15. In addition work is underway on the next cohort which will be supporting the following 
councils in London; Brent, Hackney, Haringey, Islington, Kensington & Chelsea, 
Redbridge and Westminster.  We have also produced a webpage to share the learning 
and impact from the programme so far.  

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

16. For 2017/18 we will run two further cohorts focusing on the themes of public health and 
prevention, collaborating with the Care and Health Improvement Programme (CHIP 
team) on these projects.   

Smarter Sourcing  

Achievements in 2016/17  

Develop opportunities for local 
authorities to enter collaborative 
procurement opportunities.  

We have issued national category strategies for the 
largest areas of local government spending - ICT, 
construction, energy and social care- with estimated 
savings of some £13.2 million. 
 
We have negotiated with Crown Commercial 
Services to access procurement and commercial 
training opportunities within the skills workstream.  
We will be able to report savings on skills training 
next year. 
 
The Supplier Management project has identified the 
cost to councils for goods, works and services in 
Social care, ICT and construction.  The report is 
being drafted with our pilot suppliers outlining a 
number of potential benefits, including cost savings, 
by working together on a national basis. 

Plans and Progress  

17. In line with the recommendations of the Local Government National Procurement 

Strategy we are: 

17.1. Refreshing category strategies and/or supporting councils in implementing good 

practice in the high spend areas: Information Technology, Social Care, Energy and 

Construction. Within each category tools and products will be developed to help 

councils achieve better value (including social value and better outcomes) through 

procurement.  

17.2. Supporting nine experts to strategically manage relationships, on a national basis, 

with local government’s key suppliers, informed by spending analyses to provide 

robust data on which to base the work. 

17.3. Supporting councils to encourage innovation in local government procurement 

practice and in responding to change in the procurement and commissioning 

environment. 

18. By agreement with the National Advisory Group for Local Government Procurement we 
will also be working with that group to refresh the National Procurement Strategy which 
will be four years old in 2018 to ensure that it remains up to date, relevant and fit for 
purpose.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

19. In the first quarter of this year we have;  

19.1. Developed and hosted a ‘market shaping’ event which was attended by 
representatives from 27 different councils and providers, to share good practice in 
market shaping 

19.2. Worked with councils to produce guidance on the use of dynamic purchasing 
systems for goods and services (published 9 June) 

19.3. Refreshed the ICT Category Strategy which will be launched on 12 July 

19.4. Completed a large scale diagnostic of implementation of the national procurement 
strategy, the results are being interpreted and will inform our new strategy and work 
going forward. 

Income Generation 

Commercialisation  

Achievements in 2016/17  

Support councils to become 
more commercial and to 
help them achieve savings 
or generate additional 
income of £10 million 

 

Commercial experts have been commissioned to work with 10 
councils this year to contribute towards an estimated £12.2 
million in additional income for these councils.   

In partnership with the Institute of Directors (IOD) we have 
launched our Commercial Skills training for senior officers. The 
programme is suitable for both those wishing to explore 
commercial approaches for the first time and also those who 
wish to expand and enhance current knowledge and skills. 

The programme modules are: Creative Approaches; 
Marketplace Understanding and Engagement; Financial 
Approaches and Modelling; Effective Operational Delivery; 
Commercial People Management. This offer has proved popular 
with all 20 places for the first cohort starting in February 2017 
have been taken as well as half of the places on the second 
cohort starting in Leeds.  

The LGA Commercial Skills Procurement Solution which we 
have launched enables councils to procure commercial skills 
and advice at a competitive rate to make the delivery of 
commercial projects easier and already 50 councils have 
registered an interest with two councils purchasing commercial 
skills through it. 

The Advanced Commercial Group has now met on four 
occasions this year and includes representatives from 25 
councils.  

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

Plans and Progress 

20. Working in partnership with the Institute of Directors (IOD0 we have launched a 
Commercial Skills training offer to provide officers with the skills and confidence to 
undertake larger scale income generation activity.  We also plan to design a commercial 
skills training offer for elected members.   

21. With the Advanced Commercial Group of council chief executives / senior commercial 
directors we are; 

21.1. Sharing different approaches to commercialisation to enable mutual learning 

21.2. Enable councils already advanced in their thinking to move further, faster 

21.3. Identify possible barriers to commercialisation to inform LGA policy work on behalf of  
the sector 

21.4. Identify potential synergies/ opportunities for collaboration/ partnerships/ joint ventures 
where appropriate. 

22. We have updated the Enterprising Councils guidance released in 2012 in recognition of 
the fact that local authority practice and ambition in commercial activity has moved on 
substantially since this the original release.  We have also updated the commercial 
page of the LGA website to include a map of council commercial good practice, the 
refreshed Enterprising Councils guidance and links to the LGA’s commercial skills 
support offers. 

23. We will continue to promote the LGA’s commercial skills procurement solution (CSPS) 
making the delivery of commercial projects easier and ensuring councils pay a 
competitive price for specialist expertise. We will share the case studies of councils who 
have used and benefited from the CSPS. 

One Public Estate  

Work with the Cabinet Office to extend 
the One Public Estate Programme 

 

Phase 5 of the programme launched on 27 
January 2017 with an additional 89 councils 
joining the programme. The programme is now 
supporting 249 councils (70 per cent of the 
country) working in 60 partnerships to work with 
their public sector partners to deliver public land 
and property initiatives. New and existing 
partnerships received a share of £3.6 million 
funding. 

 

24. The LGA continues to work with the Cabinet Office to finalise a schedule for a further 
expansion to the One Public Estate programme. Due to the recent election and following 
changes to government there have been delays to the expected Spring launch for the 
next funding round of the programme. It is expected that further details will become 
available over the Summer months and we will keep Members informed of progress.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

Cross-cutting Offer  

Productivity Experts 

Achievements in 2016/17  

Productivity experts to work 
with at least 25 local 
authorities, saving the councils 
in total at least £25 million 

 

Productivity Experts have been commissioned to work 
with 34 councils on projects estimated to deliver £26.5 
million in efficiency savings. An external evaluation of the 
programme estimates that the programme has 
contributed to efficiency savings/income generation of 
£133 million across the lifetime of the programme. 

Plans and Progress for 2017/18  

25. The Productivity Experts Programme provides an opportunity for councils to access 
expertise that will provide them with the skills they need to realise ambitious efficiency 
savings and income generation. The programme offers bespoke support, brokered by the 
LGA, on a specific project or initiative. The LGA has recruited a ‘pool' of productivity 
experts who can provide support across a range of issues. All of the experts have a 
proven ability to work with councils and deliver results. Councils are invited to apply to the 
programme to access £6,000 grant funding to commission support from one of the pool. 

26. We are committed to work with a further 25 councils to deliver savings or generate 
income of another £25 million. 

27. So far this year experts are working with 11 councils contributing towards efficiency 
savings and/or income generation of £7.3 million.  

Innovation Zone  

Achievements in 2016/17 

Run the Innovation Zone at the LGA 
Annual Conference 

 

The Innovation Zone ran successfully in July 
2016. Over 30 council areas directly showcased, 
five international sessions and approximately a 
further 40 councils involved in national 
organisations' projects presented. 

Plans and Progress  

28. At the time of writing, plans are well in hand for the Innovation Zone at the Birmingham 
Conference, which will have taken place by the date of this meeting. Many members of 
the Board will have been at the Conference and participated in the Zone and there is a 
separate report elsewhere on the agenda. 

 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

Financial Support to Councils.  

Achievements in 2016/17  

Provide expert financial advice 
and assistance to 30 councils 

 

Support was provided to 35 councils ranging from financial 
reviews and health checks to practical support on financial 
matters and governance.  Additional tailored support has 
been provided to authorities with particular financial 
challenges.   

Support up to 30 councils to 
explore multi-year settlements 

 

25 councils were provided support through the workshop in 
June 2016 which resulted in a joint publication of 'top tips' 
for councils considering submitting an Efficiency Plan. 
'Helpline' support has also been provided and it is estimated 
that in total some 40-50 councils have been advised. The 
top tips has been published on the LGA website and 
publicised widely. Supported by these efforts, 97 per cent of 
Councils have submitted Efficiency Plans and have been 
accepted for multi-year settlements.  

Help Councils to be more pro-
active with dealing with Fraud  

Programme agreed with CIPFA to deliver a range of 
activities to support councils to deal with fraud. A workbook 
and e-learning materials have been published on the CIPFA 
and LGA websites. Two workshops for elected members 
took place in February and more are planned for 2017/18.  

Public sector audit 
procurement  

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd, (PSAA) the Company 
set up by the LGA as a sector led body to procure external 
audit services on councils’ behalf has completed the 
procurement process and, after the statutory period for 
challenge, will announce the winning bids shortly.  

98 per cent of eligible bodies signed up for the procurement 
process.  The results of the tendering exercise have now 
been confirmed and as a result councils will receive a 
further 18 per cent reduction in their annual audit fees, 
representing typical savings of £8-10,000 a year for a 
District Council and £25,000-£30,000 for a typical upper tier 
authority.  

Plans and Progress for 2017/18  

29. Individualised support on financial issues will be provided throughout the year in the form 
of Financial Reviews and Financial Health Checks and bespoke support to councils 
facing challenging financial circumstances.  Since financial issues rarely stand on their 
own, this is usually as part of a wide package of sector led support.  Four Finance 
Improvement & Sustainability Advisers have been engaged to enhance our capacity to 
support councils on financial matters. These work alongside regional teams to ensure 
that we are proactive in supporting councils with financial challenges.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

30. We have also been commissioned to review the Government’s Counter Fraud Fund 

programme which distributed £26m in grants to local authorities during 2015/16. 

 Implications for Wales 

31. There are no implications. 

Financial Implications 

32. The Productivity Programme for 2017/18 will be funded from grant provided by DCLG 
under our Memorandum of Understanding with the Department.   

Next Steps 

33. Officers will pursue the activities outlined in the light of member guidance. 

  

Page 18

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

           Appendix 1 

 

Summary of key outputs April - June 2017  

1. The main achievements and outputs during this period are set out below.  Further 
details can be found in the main body of the report as referenced.  

Project/ programme   Outputs  On target 

(RAG) 

Report 
reference 
for further 
detail  

Shared services  Launched the 2017 Shared 
Services Map, demonstrating £590 
million in savings since 2012 

 

Green 

 

Para 9 

Digital  27 digital experts projects returned 
£2.6 million savings or income 
generated for participating councils 

 

Green  

 

Paras 4/6 

Behavioural insights 4 projects running in 2017/18 are 
expected to help councils avoid 
costs of over £15 million  

 

Amber  

 

Paras 10/13 

Design in Public Services  7 councils are receiving training in 
design skills from the Design 
Council.  

 

Amber 

 

Paras 14/16 

Procurement  Dynamic Purchasing Systems 
Guidance has been published 

 
Category Strategies for ICT, 
Construction and Energy published 
next month (delay due to Purdah) 

 

 

Green 

 

Amber 

 

 

 

Paras 17/19 

Commercialisation  Work with 10 councils in 2016/17 
will deliver additional income of £10 
million  

 

Green  

 

Paras 20/23 

Productivity Experts  Working with 11 councils so far in 
2017/18 to deliver savings of £7.3 
million.  

 

Green  

 

Paras 25/27 

Finance  Supported 10 councils to improve 
their financial management and 
plan for financial sustainability.  

 

Green 

 

Para 30 

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

 

            Appendix 2 

Behavioural Insights programme projects  

Phase 1 (Awards in 2015/16 financial year)  

Liverpool  Public health: reducing sugar consumption in 
the local population; 

£50,000 

Lincolnshire Skills and enterprise: how to motivate 
employers (particularly SMEs) to encourage 
their staff to attend skills training; 

£50,000 

Leeds  Adult social care: improving efficiency and 
outcomes during initial contact with adult social 
care services. 

£50,000 

 

Phase 2 (Awards in 2016/17 financial year)  

Brighton and Hove Reducing sugar consumption in schools. The 
outcome of this project is to reduce obesity 
amongst local school aged children. 

£30,000 

match-funded 

Kent Reduce incidents and impact of domestic 
abuse. This project aims to: 

- Reduce the number of people 
experiencing domestic abuse 

- To reduce the harm caused by 
domestic abuse to victims by 
encouraging victims to seek support 
earlier 

- To reduce the harm caused to children 
through exposure to domestic abuse 

£30,000  

match-funded 

Lambeth & Southwark  Increase the uptake of online STI testing. The 
overall goal of this project is to reduce the 
incidence of sexually transmitted infections and 
late diagnosis of HIV by transforming sexual 
health services to empower people to manage 
their own sexual health through self-testing of 
STI’s and enabling effective triage of patients 
into clinics. 

£30,000  

match-funded 

Tunbridge Wells and five 
neighbouring district councils. 

Reduce demand on Housing service. This 
project has the following outcomes: 

- A greater number of people who 
approach the councils for housing 

£30,000  

match-funded 

Page 20

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

advice move into a privately rented 
room in a shared house 

- Fewer people who have approached 
the councils for housing advice become 
homeless and those who do are better 
able to sustain their new 
accommodation and have planned for if 
they become homeless in the future.  

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 3





 

 

Improvement & Innovation Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

 

Performance Report and MOU for 2017/18 

 

Purpose  

For discussion. 
 
Summary 
 
The report presents an update of performance against the Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU) the LGA/IDeA have with the Department of Communities and 
Local Government (DCLG) about the use of grant for 2016/17 and the finalised MOU 
agreed with DCLG for 2017/18.   
 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
That the Improvement & Innovation Board considers the report and agrees any follow-up 
action. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to initiate any required action. 
 

 
 
 

Contact officer:  Dennis Skinner  

Position: Head of Improvement  

Phone no: 020 7664 3017  

Email: dennis.skinner@local.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4

mailto:dennis.skinner@local.gov.uk


 

 

Improvement & Innovation Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

Performance Report 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1. This report presents an update on performance against the key deliverables 
set out in the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) that is in place between 
the IDeA and DCLG about use of the grant allocated for 2016/17. 

1.2. It also informs members about the MoU agreed covering 2017/18. 

2. Performance summary for 2016/17 

2.1. The table below summarises the final end of year position on the 
deliverables contained in the MoU 

 Total Green Amber Red 

Deliverables 50 48 2 0 

 

2.2. Overall, 48 of the 50 targets were fully achieved by the end of the financial 

year. The two targets partly achieved related to the recruitment of graduates 

and the work we commissioned from CIPFA in relation to supporting councils 

around fraud. 

2.3. Whilst we recruited over 100 graduates, unfortunately there was a slightly 

higher number of withdrawals this year between the time graduates being 

recruited and placed with councils and them actually taking up placements.   

The number of graduates placed with councils from the current cohort stands 

at 94. 

2.4. In relation to fraud, only two of the four regional workshops we had 

commissioned CIPFA to deliver were held by the end of the year.  We are in 

discussion with CIPFA about the additional 2 workshops being held after the 

general election. 

2.5. Key highlights from the last year include 

2.5.1. 119 peer challenges. 

2.5.2. Tailored support through the use of member or officer peers provided 

for a total of 82 councils. 

2.5.3. Continued to provide intensive support to councils with the most severe 

challenges. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Improvement & Innovation Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

2.5.4. Helped councils save an estimated £13.2 million through the use of 

collaborative procurement frameworks and our deployment of 

commercial experts. 

2.5.5. Helped councils save in excess of £26 million through the deployment 

of our productivity experts. 

2.5.6. Created a new database for capturing and sharing innovative practice 

containing 1,000 examples. 

2.5.7. Developed over 700 councillors through various training programmes. 

2.5.8. Supported 112 councils on a range of workforce issues. 

2.5.9. Created an on-line resource to support councils to strengthen 

community cohesion. 

2.6. In terms of key outcomes as a result of the work: 

2.6.1. No authorities have entered formal DCLG intervention in the year and 

good progress being made in Rotherham and Tower Hamlets  to come 

out of intervention 

2.6.2. Two-thirds of a basket of indicators commonly used by councils have 

improved 

2.6.3. Resident satisfaction with councils remains high at 65 per cent 

2.6.4. Almost 90 per cent of council leaders and chief executives say the LGA 

support has had a positive impact on their authority. 

2.7. A comprehensive end of year report is attached as Appendix 1. 

3. Financial performance 

3.1. The 2016/17 outturn shows that of the £21.4 million grant, spend was 

£21.393 million (an underspend of £7,000).  

4. MoU for 2017/18 

4.1. At previous meetings members have been updated on our performance 

against the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) we have with DCLG 

around our improvement work and the discussions taking place with the 

sector and government and improvement priorities for future years. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Improvement & Innovation Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

4.2. Negotiations continued with DCLG during the first part of 2017 and all 

members of the Board were written to on 3 April to update them on the 

position. 

4.3. DCLG signed off the MoU on 24 April and agreed a sum of £21 million for 

2017/18, which is a reduction of £400,000 from 2016/17. A copy of the MoU is 

attached as Appendix 2. 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



  

 

This paper reports the achievements of the 

sector’s improvement programme for 2016/17. It 

explains how the Local Government Association 

(LGA) has used Department for Communities and 

Local Government (DCLG) grant in 2016/17 to help 

councils and to support improvement and 

innovation in the sector.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sector-led improvement in 
2016/17 

June 2017 

 

 
 Improvement & 

Innovation Board 

11 July 2017 

Appendix 1 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



  

Introduction and background  
 
Sector-led improvement is the approach that councils and the LGA have put in place to 
support continuous improvement.  
 
It is an approach developed by and delivered with the sector and is underpinned by the 
following key principles: 
 

 councils are responsible for their own performance and improvement; 
 

 councils are primarily accountable to local communities;  
 

 councils have a collective responsibility for the performance of the sector as a whole;  
 

 the role of the LGA is to maintain an overview of performance and to provide tools and 
support. 

 
The support “offer” itself is based on what we have learnt works for improvement – strong 
political and managerial leadership, challenge from one’s peers, the ability to benchmark 
performance with others through the use of comparable data and the sharing and spreading of 
good practice.  
 
Councils can access the support through our team of regionally based Principal Advisers 
(PAs). PAs are the LGA's focal point for discussions with councils about their improvement 
needs and the support the LGA can make available. PAs work with colleagues from other 
regionally based improvement programmes, for example with the Care and Health 
Improvement Advisers funded by the Department of Health, to coordinate support and with 
other regionally based organisations supporting councils e.g. London Councils and other 
regional LGAs. 
 
The approach has been hugely successful: 
 

 
 the number of councils requiring DCLG to formally intervene in remains extremely 

low, with no councils entering intervention in the last financial year 
 

 residents remain satisfied and continue to trust their local council. 65% of residents 
remain “very” or “fairly” satisfied with the way their local council runs things 

 

 two-thirds of a basket of performance indicators commonly used by councils to 
assess their performance have improved 

 

 87% of leaders and chief executives say support from the LGA has a positive impact 
on their authority 

 

 96% of respondents say they feel more confident in their role as a councillor having 
participated in our leadership programmes. 
 

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



  

Our record over the last year, as illustrated in this report, shows yet again the critical role 
played by the LGA, in partnership with others including DCLG, in ensuring the performance of 
councils, addressing those at risk of underperformance, driving improvement across the 
sector, supporting councils through significant changes and supporting strong local leadership.  
 
Programme delivery 
 
The programme for 2016/17 was based around four themes: 

 Improvement through peer support 

 Efficiency and productivity 

 Strong political and senior officer leadership 

 Strong communities with excellent public services. 
 
Key highlights and deliverables from each theme are set out in the remainder of this report.  
 

Overall highlights 
 
During 2016/17 the LGA: 
 

 Delivered 119 peer challenges to a wide range of councils 
 

 Developed over 700 councillors through participation in our various leadership 
programmes 
 

 Provided tailored support through the use of member or officer peers for a total of 

193 councils 

 

 Helped councils save an estimated £13.2m through the use of collaborative 

procurement frameworks and our deployment of commercial experts 

 

 Helped councils save in excess of £26m through the deployment of our productivity 

experts 

 

 Created a new database for capturing and sharing innovative practice containing 

1,000 examples 

 

 Supported 112 councils on a range of workforce issues 

 

 Helped councils identify savings in excess of £60m through Local Partnerships 

 

 Supported the emerging combined authorities with bespoke support and through the 

creation of a network to share good practice. 

Further details about our support offer are available here:  https://www.local.gov.uk/our-

support 

NB Cost/savings figures provided in this report have either been provided by external 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support


  

consultants or from local authorities. 

 
 
  

Page 30

Agenda Item 4



  

Improvement through peer support and challenge  
 
Challenge and support from one’s peers lies at the heart of sector led improvement and 
underpins its success. 
 

 
This is the theme under which the vast majority of our peer support and peer challenge work is 
covered.  
 
Improvement support provided by one’s peers is effective because peers bring with them their 
practical knowledge and experience of working local government and the challenges councils 
are facing. This means that they are able (much more so than inspectors or private 
consultants) to: 

 understand the issues councils are facing and get to the heart of the issue 

 challenge any misunderstandings or unrealistic expectations held locally 

 provide practical advice based on real experience 

 offer that advice in a way that is sensitive to local dynamics. 
 
And because the advice and support is perceived to be coming from people who know what 
they are talking about it is much more likely to be accepted and acted upon than if it was 
coming from those with little or no practical experience.   
 
The peer based offer operates on a tiered basis, recognising that whilst most support offers 
will be universal (e.g. peer challenge, where there is an expectation that every local authority 
will have a corporate peer challenge or finance peer review (at no cost) at least every four to 
five years) some councils will sometimes face more significant challenges and will require a 
more bespoke package.  
 

Some highlights for 2016/17  
 

 Delivered 119 peer challenges  

 70% of Corporate Peer Challenges (CPCs) delivered in 2016/17 were “first time” 
CPCs 

 Secured 2,500 days from member and officer peers working in councils to support 
the peer challenge process 

 Delivered 17 peer training and development days, recruiting over 300 new member 
and officer peers  

 Provided 193 authorities with tailored support through the use of member and officer 
peers 

 Continued provision of intensive support to councils facing the most severe 
challenges, minimising the need for DCLG intervention. 

 
Further details about our peer challenge offer, including the Cardiff evaluation, are available 

here: https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/peer-challenges  

 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/peer-challenges


  

Peer challenge lies at the heart of the sector’s approach to improvement.  During the year, 
119 peer challenges were carried out using teams of peers from councils but also from other 
public sector organisations including the NHS, police and central government.  Peers were 
also used from the voluntary sector and business community. 
 
 

 
"The real sign of a mature organisation is one that continues to learn and welcomes 
challenge by others. The peer challenge is an absolutely critical element of this learning and 
it has helped us build confidence in our direction of travel and ability to deliver, as well as 
providing useful challenge and advice on areas where we could do more, for example 
creating space for innovation and being more open to taking risk." 
 
County Council Chief Executive (April 2016) 
 

 
 
We also commissioned an independent evaluation of the approach from the Centre for Local 
and Regional Government Research at Cardiff University to assess the effectiveness, impact 
and value for money of the CPC programme.  The evaluation concluded that CPC remains a 
highly effective tool at the heart of the sector-led improvement programme, has a positive 
impact for participating councils and the sector as a whole, and provides value for money. It 
also provided a number of recommendations which we have implemented and which will 
inform the continued development of the peer challenge process. 
 

Findings from Cardiff University 
 

 Authorities gave very positive feedback about the quality of peer challenge teams 

 Corporate Peer Challenge 
o Has a positive impact at a corporate level  
o Provides reassurance for the council 
o Creates behavioural and organisational change within the council 
o Provides value for money  

 The process can be a trigger for a set of activities and support from the LGA that has 
further impact on improvement 

 The LGA’s role in managing the CPC process is highly valued by councils. 
 

 
Our change of control support and practical support to help councils manage and resolve 
issues between the political and managerial leadership are two examples of how we seek to 
prevent problems arising in the sector. Changes in leadership/political control and a lack of 
trust and confidence in relationships between leading members and senior staff are two of the 
factors that, when taken together with others, can signal potential risk and underperformance.  
 
We seek to prevent that by providing mentoring support from experienced member peers for 
new Leaders and cabinet members and acting as a trusted partner to resolve complex 
disputes between senior members and managers. Our advice and support enables the 
councils concerned to resolve issues quickly and discreetly, thus minimizing any detrimental 
impact to service delivery or reputation.  

Page 32

Agenda Item 4



  

 
During the course of the year we provided such support to 25 councils where there had been 
a change in political control or change in leader, and a further 10 councils which were 
experiencing significant governance issues. 
 
Our support for the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) has enabled them to provide direct 
support to councils and councillors in developing scrutiny skills and expertise, holding both 
local government and other parts of the public sector to account as democratically elected 
local representatives. During 2016/17 CfPS provided support and advice to 46 local 
authorities.  
 
Throughout 2016/17 we have continued to offer more intensive support to the small number of 
councils facing severe performance challenges and at potential risk of government 
intervention. Councils have access to a rapid response team of senior members/officers with 
the appropriate mix of skills and experience and an appropriate package of support. Our 
practical supports helps councils to turn things around and avoids the potential costs of 
intervention which we know can be significant.  
 

 
"All Councils face challenges. The LGA provides a safe place where those challenges can 
be discussed and aired. In our experience the support and guidance of the LGA has been 
very valuable in ensuring my Council has the strong political and managerial leadership it 
needs to the benefit of our residents and businesses." 
  
District Chief Executive  (May 2017) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



  

 

Efficiency and productivity 
 
Increasingly councils are looking to the LGA for support in managing their costs and 
demand pressures and finding new ways of developing alternative income streams in order 
to reduce their financial dependence on Government and their call on local taxpayers. 
 

 
Councils have made great strides to reduce costs whilst, at the same time, maintaining the 
quality of service delivery; but providing value for money and improving efficiency and 
effectiveness remains as important today as it has ever been.  
 
Our efficiency and productivity programme provides a range of support to help councils 
achieve this, grouped into three broad areas. 
 

 Transforming services: either to make them more efficient and less wasteful or to find 
more effective ways of delivering to meet local people’s needs. 
 

 Smarter sourcing: commissioning and buying the services, goods and works that 
contribute to local outcomes more effectively and, where possible, more cheaply, and 
managing the resulting contracts to optimise value from them. 

 

 Generating income in order to maintain delivery in response to local priorities and 
reducing public finances. This can involve generating a greater proportion of funding 
locally, such as by commercialising the authority’s existing skills, assets or commodities 
or investing to grow the local economy to generate wealth for the area. 
 

Some highlights for 2016/17  
 

 Helped councils save an estimated £13.2 million through the use of collaborative 
procurement frameworks and our deployment of commercial experts 
 

 Launched our second programme with the Design Council to help councils use 
design techniques to re-design service delivery to save costs and improve 
effectiveness; and supported 7 local authority behavioural insights pilots working with 
the Behavioural Insights Team 

 

 Deployed productivity experts in 34 councils to deliver £26.5m of efficiency savings 
 

 Hosted 65,965 visits to LG Inform our comparative data service, with 247,242 page 
views  

 

 Helped councils identify in excess of £60m of savings through our support and joint 
work with Local Partnerships. 

 
Further details about our efficiency and income generation offers are available here: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/efficiency-and-income-generation   

Page 34

Agenda Item 4

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/efficiency-and-income-generation


  

 

 
We have continued to encourage councils to consider the potential benefits of shared service 
arrangements and during the year launched a shared services “matchmaking” service to 
provide assistance to councils who wish to share services and/or management teams with 
other councils.  
 
The offer includes access to funding for a dedicated shared service expert and/or paid for 
external mediation advice and support. During the year we also updated and re-launched the 
popular interactive Shared Services map, which demonstrates that the vast majority of 
councils are involved in some form of shared service arrangements across the country. The 
2016/17 refresh of the map identified 296 shared service arrangements contributing to £500m 
of efficiency savings. The map is in the process of being updated and savings and 
partnerships are anticipated to be significantly higher than these figures. 
 
In accordance with the National Procurement strategy for local government, we have 
continued to develop new category strategies in high spend areas which councils can use to 
procure more effectively.  
 
Our new ICT Category strategy sets out how the sector can leverage this spend to enable real 
digital transformation - meaning councils can save significant amounts, not just in terms of IT 
expenditure, but more importantly deliver savings across their business operations. The 
procurement frameworks produced this year are estimated to have helped councils save in 
excess of £13.2m. 
 
Local government’s interest in commercialisation and income generation has continued to 
grow throughout 2016/17. We launched the LGA Commercial Skills Procurement Solution 
(CSPS) to provide councils with a place to procure commercial skills at a competitive rate to 
make the delivery of commercial projects easier.  
 
In partnership with the Institute of Directors (IOD) we also launched a new commercial skills 
training offer for senior officers, designed to equip officers with additional knowledge, expertise 
and commercial skills and help councils pursue appropriate and well considered commercial 
opportunities. In addition, experts have been commissioned through the LGA’s Commercial 
Experts programme to work with 10 councils this year to contribute towards £12.2m additional 
income for these councils. 
 

Productivity Experts Programme  
 
This programme provides an opportunity for councils to access expertise that will provide 
them with the skills they need to realise ambitious efficiency savings and income generation. 
During 2016/17 productivity experts worked with 34 councils to deliver £26.5million 
efficiency savings. The experts provided support around a wide range of areas, including 
economic growth, procurement, asset management and specific service efficiency reviews.  
 
An external evaluation of the Productivity Experts programme found that the programme 
had contributed to efficiency savings/income generation in the vicinity of £133m.  
 

 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



  

LG Inform  

 
LG Inform is our on-line data and benchmarking service, and continues to go from strength to 
strength. This free, online service allows anyone in councils and fire and rescue services to 
access and compare both contextual and performance data for their local area.  
 
100% of councils are signed up to LG Inform, which now has 4,806 registered users (an 
increase of 20% in the past 12 months). Authority users can view data or pre-written reports, 
and create their own reports, using the most up to date published information.  
 
 

     
 
LGInform is accessible here: http://lginform.local.gov.uk/ 
 
We recognise that sometimes other organisations are better placed to provide practical 
support. We have worked with CIPFA to develop a range of fraud awareness tools for elected 
members; we have supported the One Public Estate programme which is now working with 
249 councils to deliver public land and property initiatives; and through our collaboration with 
Local Partnerships we have helped 53 councils deliver £25.5m efficiency savings and 
identified a further £35m of potential savings. 
 
We have provided financial advice and assistance to 35 councils throughout the year ranging 
from our financial reviews and financial health checks to practical support on financial matters 
and governance. Since financial issues rarely stand on their own, this work is often part of a 
wider package of sector led support. Additionally we have recruited a small number of finance 
improvement and sustainability advisers to enhance our capacity to support councils on 
financial matters. Advisers will work alongside our Principal Advisers to ensure we are able to 
be proactive in supporting councils with financial challenges. 
 
We have delivered a comprehensive programme of support around better use of data and 
digital transformation including: 
 

 developed two new data standards for elections results and local services 

 supported 176 authorities through events, webinars and e-learning modules, involving 
530 staff 

 provided data experts for eight councils 

 supported 15 councils as part of the Digital Transformation programme. 
 
We have also set up the Local Government Cyber Security Stakeholder Group to widen digital 
and cyber resilience awareness across local authorities and highlight good practice and 
advice and have hosted two meetings to date.  

During the year we added an additional 
1,400 metrics to the database: which now 
contains 4,592 metrics in total. And we 
organised over 20 training events involving 
370 delegates from over 100 organisations 
 
Many more use the public version of the site 
without registering: in total there were 
66,000 visits over the course of the year. 
 
 

 

Page 36

Agenda Item 4

http://lginform.local.gov.uk/


  

 

Strong political and senior officer leadership  
 
“We know that local government is only ever as vibrant, effective and relevant as the people 
running it. So we have a duty to support and challenge the politicians of today to be the best 
leaders they can and to encourage and talent spot the best leaders for the future”.  
 

 
The LGA’s Highlighting Leadership offer provides a range of programmes, events and 
resources aimed at supporting and developing councillors at all levels and helping them 
progress through the various stages of their political careers. Key programmes include: 
 

 encouraging new talent into the sector through our “Be a Councillor” campaign; 
 

 helping non-executive members develop in their roles as community leaders, facilitators 
and advocates; 

 

 supporting leadership development through the Leadership Essentials programmes 
and Leadership Academy 

 

 the Leaders Programme designed specifically for council Leaders. 
 

Some highlights for 2016/17  
 

 649 councillors participated in our leadership programmes  
 

 Recruited 64 participants to the Next Generation programme aimed at talented 
councillors across the political parties 

 

 Placed 94 graduates on the National Graduate Development Programme 
 

 Supported 112 councils to help them transform their workforces and modernise the 
way they are managed 
 

 Launched ‘Walk Tall: The 21st century public servant’ and the ‘Come back to social 
work’ campaign. 

 

 Increased the diversity of councillors who attend our programmes.  
 

Further details about our political leadership offer are available here: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-political-leadership 
 

Further details about our managerial leadership offer are available here: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-managerial-leadership 
 

 

 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 4

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-political-leadership
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-managerial-leadership


  

During the year we undertook an evaluation of our political leadership programmes. A survey, 
based on our Political Skills Framework, was sent to all councillors who have taken part in one 
or more of our programmes within the last two years with follow up interviews with a sample of 
respondents, to help gather more detailed and anecdotal feedback. 
 
Headline findings demonstrate that: 
 

 Eight out of ten respondents who took part in our programmes did so to ‘develop their 
capacity to lead’ and ‘to network and learn from other councillors’ 
 

 Ninety five percent said their objectives had been ‘fully achieved’ or ‘largely achieved’ 
by the leadership programme(s) they attended 

 

 Ninety six per cent said they felt more confident in their role as a councillor either ‘to a 
great extent’ or ‘to a moderate extent’, having participated in our leadership 
programmes 

 

 The diversity of attendees increased from 10% of BAME (Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic) 
delegates to 16%.   

 
The following word cloud has been created to illustrate the reported benefits of the programme 
with the size of the words reflecting the number of times it was used: 
 
 

 
 
 
The results of the evaluation will be used to inform the development of our leadership 
programmes for 2017/18 and beyond. 
 
During the year we have refreshed, update and promoted the ‘Be a Councillor’ campaign, 
leading to increased take up locally. In particular, this year saw the first ‘Be a Councillor’ event 
held in partnership with a council (Isle of Wight), focused specifically on engaging more 
women in politics. 
       

Page 38

Agenda Item 4



  

 
 
 
As with all our programmes we have kept our E-learning offer under review to ensure it 
continues to reflect the challenges councillors are facing locally. In the last year new modules 
have been introduced on Influencing Skills, Planning and “What it’s like to be a Councillor”, as 
part of the ‘Be a Councillor’ campaign. Recent revisions have been made to the Leadership & 
Engagement Workbook to take account of devolution and its effects on councils and 
communities. We now have over 8,000 registered members and the number of training 
options available continues to grow.   
 
The National Graduate Development Programme has continued to grow in popularity and 
success, with more councils taking part in the scheme and an increase in application 
numbers. We placed 94 graduates with councils this year. As part of the programme we are 
also exploring secondment opportunities across different sectors, for example with the Civil 
Service fast track scheme.    
 
Working with SOLACE and a range of partners we have collaborated to run IGNITE – a new 
training and development programme for chief executives.  
 
We have supported councils to increase the opportunities for apprentices by sharing good 
practice at regional workshops, running a Knowledge Hub group and through our regular 
Workforce Bulletin with a readership of over 14,000. 
 
We have continued to develop and provide tools to help councils with workforce planning.  Our 
Decisions Making Accountability (DMA) tool helps establish the number of layers of 
management that each council needs, and the amount of decision-making responsibility that 
managers at each layer need to feel empowered to do their jobs well. 
 

Decision Making Accountability  
 
The review was delivered on time and within budget, and the LGA delivery team 
kept everyone informed and were positive, efficient and accessible. DMA provided a 
‘reset button’ for the council to press and move forward.  
 
On top of this the changes did deliver savings of more than £100,000 a year. These 
are now being used to help protect front line services to the benefit of our residents. 
 
Leader, Borough Council (September 2016) 
 

Attending our political leadership programmes gives councillors 
a unique opportunity to network with other members from 
different tiered authorities and usually across the political 
spectrum.   
 
Our managerial leadership development programme starts by 
growing future talent with the National Graduate Development 
Programme, through to opportunities for senior officers with the 
Institute of Directors. We also support councils on workforce 
issues and, new to the programme this year, work to support 
councils in delivering their apprenticeship targets. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



  

 

Strong communities with excellent public services  
 
 

 
Central and local government are both committed to creating the right conditions to deliver 
strong local economies with local authorities delivering high quality, value for money services.  
To secure the best possible outcomes there needs to be a shift in power from central to local 
government. The government has embarked on a journey that will bring power close to local 
communities. This offer is to help councils on this journey. For those with devolution deals 
already agreed, it will involve helping them with implementation. For those that are just 
embarking on the journey, it will involve help to establish the meaningful partnerships required 
to sustain any deal. 
 
In addition, we work with councils on a range of other thematic or service specific issues 
including improvement support for flooding, housing and community cohesion. The LGA also 
provides support on all the machinery associated with the pay negotiations. 
 
 

Some highlights for 2016/17  
 

 Provided a range of national level support, plus more tailored support to specific 
areas on devolution and established the combined authority chief executives network 

 

 Ran a series of regional works to strengthen taxi and PHV licensing arrangements 
attended by over 200 councillors and officers attended and updated our taxi and PHV 
licensing handbook 

 

 Launched a councillors guide to civil emergencies 
 

 Produced a series of publications and held events to help councils deliver their public 
health responsibilities 
 

 Completed a two year deal on pay and agreed terms of reference with the trade 
unions to enable negotiations to start on changes to the national pay spine in light of 
the new National Living Wage 
 

 Launched the ‘Come Back to Social Work’ pilot in September, to select and train 30 
experienced social workers to return to local government employment  

 

 Supported councils to strengthen community cohesion, including an online resource 
with guidance, case studies and toolkits. 
 

 
 
We provided a wide-ranging programme of support to the devolution agenda in 2016/17. We 
have worked with all combined authority/devolution deal areas and also with aspiring areas to 
provide direct support. This bespoke support has varied from place to place but has tended to 

Page 40

Agenda Item 4



  

focus around implementation of deals, negotiation with Government, leadership development, 
governance, constitution and governance support, completion of assurance frameworks, 
communications and civic and democratic engagement and practical policy support.  
 
In addition we have produced a range of widely available material, including: 
 

 developed and tested a combined authority self-evaluation diagnostic to help the sector 
reflect upon progress to date, consider areas for improvement, and identify where 
external support would be helpful 
 

 commissioned and launched a new tax and spend tool (ESPRESSO) to help local 
authorities understand the scale and distribution of tax recuperation and expenditure on 
public services 

 

 refreshed and redesigned our online devolution hub – as the first point of reference for 
the sector on devolution and the support available.  

Further details are available here: https://www.local.gov.uk/devolution-support 
 
Our work on supporting community cohesion has come into sharp focus as a result of events 
during the year. We have created an online resource for councils setting out case studies, 
guidance and toolkits on building community cohesion and tackling hate crime and work is 
underway to update LGA guidance on building community cohesion. We are continuing to 
work with Luton, DCLG and the Home Office on a special interest group to enable councils to 
share good practice around tackling extremism, have created a group on the Knowledge Hub 
to facilitate this and have advised on the content of a resources guide for practitioners. We 
have commissioned a councillor’s guide on scrutiny of counter-extremism and Prevent work 
and we are organising leadership essentials programmes on prevent and counter-extremism.  
 
In December 2016, following extensive engagement with the sector, the LGA launched the 
final report of the LGA Housing Commission making a number of recommendations for how 
local and national government can work together: to build more of the right homes in the right 
places; to create prosperous and well-functioning economies; to help more people into work 
and to increase their earnings, and; to better meet the housing needs of our ageing 
population. This work provided a renewed emphasis on our support to councils: to share 
learning and experiences in delivering housing growth in their areas, with a range of good 
practice captured and promoted including innovating to increase housing supply; to reduce 
demand on temporary accommodation, and; to meet the health and housing needs of an 
ageing population. 
 
The LGA workforce offer of support helps councils modernise and develop their workforce in 
the drive to deliver more for less. During the year we completed a two year deal on pay, 
delivered within the parameters set through our consultation with councils, and have agreed 
terms of reference with the trade unions to enable negotiations to start on changes to the 
national pay spine in light of the new National Living Wage by 2020. This has been supported 
by the collection of comprehensive data on employee numbers and pay rates from councils. 
Undertaking this activity at a national level is a cost effective approach for the sector. Further 
details about our workforce and HR support offer are available here: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support 
 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4

https://www.local.gov.uk/devolution-support
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support


  

 

Sector led improvement: some reflections 
 
Over the last year the sector has invested considerably in its own improvement, supported 
by DCLG grant funding. Feedback demonstrates that the support is valued; Leaders and 
Chief Executives report that it has a positive impact and take-up across the sector is high. 
 
Looking back over the year we are uniquely placed, as a result of our engagement with 
councils over the year, to offer some high level insights about the sector and the 
challenges it faces as we move into 2017/18: 
 
o Perceived uncertainties around devolution (e.g. what would be available to an area that 

didn’t want a mayor) and unitary local government have not been helpful. In particular 
uncertainty on local government reorganisation has taken up time and energy and, in 
some areas, had a negative impact on relationships. 

o More councils seem to be grappling with significant overspends this year, with the main 
areas being adults, children’s, homelessness and non-delivery of transformation 
programmes – leading to short-term measures to balance the books - things that are 
either “one off” fixes or effectively transfer costs and risks to future years. 

o councils have devoted significant time and effort seeking to be equal partners in 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans which haven’t always led to outcomes, and 
there is frustration in the sector about this and concern at the delay in moving to new 
ways of working – not helped by delays in the Better Care Fund guidance 

o Demand pressures particularly on children’s and adult social care have become much 
more noticeable. An increasing number of councils are also reporting budget pressures 
on their temporary accommodation budgets. 

o Cuts to partner funding e.g. Police and Fire (especially Police) and reorganisations in 
health are also having a big impact on the ground and impacting partnership activity 
e.g. police and health capacity to attend safeguarding meetings and police attendance 
at multi-agency safe-guarding hub (MASH) sessions.  

o An increasing number of councils that took out layers of management in previous years 
are now struggling with capacity. 

o There is a strong interest in the sector about exploring appropriate commercial 
opportunities and lots of interest in the commercial skills training that we have offered 
and requests for “commercial” councils to share their expertise and knowledge - 
although commercialisation and income generation are much more popular in less 
deprived councils.  

o Housing growth is still a big issue. The length of time waiting for the housing white 
paper made preparation of budgets and prioritisation of actions difficult. Councils are 
continuing to explore new vehicles to build homes. 

 
Whilst the sector supports a sector-led approach to improvement we know that some 
national commentators have, in the past, criticised its voluntary nature and therefore the 
ability of the sector to manage risk and also a supposed lack of transparency. Neither 
criticism bears much scrutiny. 
 
In the past sector-led improvement has been criticised because stakeholders have felt less 
well informed about local authority performance than under previous regimes, they have 
felt unsighted about the sector’s approach to managing risk and, because sector led 
improvement is voluntary, poor performers, it is suggested, can avoid engaging. Of course 

Page 42

Agenda Item 4



  

sector led improvement is voluntary but that does not mean that councils don’t participate. 
As our take-up analysis demonstrates (see Annex A) there is strong take up across the key 
offers.  The analysis is used to assist in further promotion of the offers and to target areas 
where there is considered to be under-representation.   
 
And as part of the approach the sector has agreed that one of the LGA’s roles is to 
maintain an overview of the performance of the sector in order to identify potential 
performance challenges and offer support on a proactive basis. Working with the sector we 
have developed an approach to managing risk with our regionally based team of Principal 
Advisers playing a pivotal role (supported by member peers) drawing together qualitative 
information about the performance of councils in their areas with quantitative performance 
data and analysis from LG Inform combined with feedback from our wider engagement 
with councils and any regionally based improvement bodies. Where the information and 
intelligence gathered appears to identify councils facing significant performance challenges 
and a potential serious concern, the Principal Adviser will make contact at the earliest 
opportunity with the authority involved to explore potential support needs. Whilst much of 
this activity is “under the radar”, the approach has operated well and has minimised the 
need for Government intervention. 
 
In terms of transparency, whilst it is the case that sector led improvement does not deliver 
a simple and easily comparable “score” for council performance such as CPA, there has 
certainly been no diminution in the availability of comparative performance data. Councils 
are still required to provide a wealth of comparable data to central government, as defined 
in the single data list, outputs from sector led improvement are published as a matter of 
routine, and of course councils continue to publish a wide range of locally relevant 
information and data about their priorities and performance. LG Inform, which is available 
to the public, draws together published data and provides the opportunity to make a much 
more targeted comparison of performance across a wide range of services of importance 
to the public. 
 
In terms of the future we undertook an extensive programme of engagement during the 
year with the sector about their anticipated support needs. This has informed our 
discussions with DCLG about the shape of the programme of support for 2017/18.  It was 
clear that councils want continued support in the key areas that we provide. Peer challenge 
and support; the leadership work developing councillors together with specific support to 
help councils to deliver savings continue to be highly thought of and considered to be at 
the core of the improvement offer going forward.    
 
In terms of new offers, a number of councils came forward to suggest that there is a need 
to develop an enhanced offer around housing, particularly the challenges around delivery 
and the rising cost of temporary accommodation in councils facing an increase in 
homelessness.   
 
It is also the case that an increasing number of councils are looking for support around 
children’s services – both in terms of service performance but also cost as demand 
pressures are impacting on many councils’ budget position. The absence of a programme 
of sector led support in children’s services is noticeable. In light of the National Audit Office 
report on children in need of help or protection which commented on the ineffectiveness of 
DfE’s approach, we have held discussions with DfE officials on a proposed programme of 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4



  

council-led support that seeks to utilise the expertise of the sector to improve children’s 
services ‘upstream’ of an inadequate Ofsted judgement. 
 
Finally, in terms of our approach to delivering support, we are committed to maximising the 
value for money of the grant we receive on behalf of the sector to support improvement. 
We will continue to keep the programme of support under review to ensure that it meets 
the sector’s needs; we will continue to look for opportunities to reduce our costs and 
become as efficient as possible; and we will continue to work with and through other 
organisations that may be better placed to provide the support that councils need. 

  

Page 44

Agenda Item 4



  

ANNEX A 
 

Sector led improvement: take-up  
 
 

 
The LGA regularly monitors the take up of the various part of our support offer as part of our 
business planning process. This helps to demonstrate that support is being taken up by local 
authorities from different UK regions, different political compositions and different authority 
types.  
 
This Annex summarizes the take up of the various parts of the offer in 2016/17. It provides a 
“snap shot” for the year. It is not exhaustive. Councils engage with the LGA at a number of 
levels and through a variety of channels not all of which are captured in this analysis.  
 
Some of the key elements and take up of the offer are summarized below.  
   
Over the last 12 months, 119 peer challenges were delivered. Take up was highest 
proportionately in the South West and lowest in London – although we would expect take up 
to be lower towards the end of the electoral cycle. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
When looking at the take up across types of councils, there was a higher take up from unitary 
authorities (52%), metropolitan authorities and counties (both 48%) than districts (20%).  In 
terms of political control Liberal Democratic controlled councils had the higher percentage at 
43% compared to 27% of Conservative controlled councils. 
 
 
 
 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

E EM GL NE NW SE SW WM YH

Peer Challenge 

No of councils Peer Challenge

Page 45

Agenda Item 4



  

Looking at the wider peer support offer, including mentoring for leaders, portfolio holders and 
others.  The North East as a region received the most support (proportionately) with the East 
Midlands the lowest. 
 

 
 
When looking at the take up of peer support across types of councils, there was a higher take 
up from county authorities at 78%, falling to just below 50% for district councils.  In respect of 
political control, most support was provided to councils with no overall control (81%).   
 
Governance support from the Centre for Public Scrutiny, which provides specialist training and 
consultancy to individuals and organisations looking to improve their governance and scrutiny 
skills, culture systems and processes was provided to 54 (15%) of councils. 
 
Over the year 233 councils participated in our leadership programmes.  Regionally, London 
saw the highest proportion of take up with 85% of councils and Yorkshire and Humber was the 
lowest but still more than half (55%) of councils were involved.   
 

 
 
 
 

0

20

40

60

80

E EM GL NE NW SE SW WM YH

Peer support 

No of councils Peer Support

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

E EM GL NE NW SE SW WM YH

Leadership 

No of councils Leadership

Page 46

Agenda Item 4



  

We have worked directly with over 70 councils through the productivity programme, 
including, for example, 25 councils received Productivity experts and 26 councils received 
support on Digital. 
 
A revised and extended finance support offer was provided to 20 councils which was in 
addition to the 9 councils which undertook a finance peer challenge. 
 
All councils use LG Inform the LGA’s on-line data service. 
 
One Public Estate provided support to 214 (61 %) councils to work collaboratively with other 
public bodies on public land and property initiatives that deliver efficiencies (capital receipts 
and reduced running costs), support local growth (new homes and jobs) and more customer 
focused integrated services. 
 
122 (35 %) of councils participated in one or more projects run by Local Partnerships, the 
joint venture between HM Treasury and the LGA that helps the sector deliver major projects 
and change. 
 
47 councils also received support in the development of plans for devolution. 
 
A total of 120 councils received support from our workforce team during the year, with almost 
50% of London boroughs participating and around a third of all other types of councils. 
 

  

0

50

100

150

200

250

County District London Met District Unitary

Workforce 

No of Councils Workforce

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



  

ANNEX B 
 
 

Accessing the improvement offer: the role of LGA 

Principal Advisers 
 

 
 
Principal Advisers are the LGA's focal point for discussions with councils about their 
improvement needs and the support we can make available – working with existing sector-
owned improvement bodies at sub-national level and with regionally based colleagues 
supporting other programmes, such as the Care and Health Improvement Programme. 
 
Principal Advisers also have a key role in identifying good and innovative practice, which is fed 
back into the LGA to inform the wider improvement offer to the sector. 
 
Each Principal Adviser is responsible for one or more regions. Principal Advisers have 
extensive experience of working at a senior level in local government and the wider local 
public sector. 
 
North East, Yorkshire and the Humber, East Midlands 
Mark Edgell. Mobile: 07747 636910. Email: Mark.Edgell@local.gov.uk 
 
East of England 
Rachel Litherland. Mobile: 07795 076834. Email: Rachel.Litherland@local.gov.uk 
Gary Hughes. Mobile: 07771 941337. Email: Gary.Hughes@local.gov.uk  
 
London 
Heather Wills. Mobile: 07770 701188. Email: Heather.Wills@local.gov.uk 
 
South East: (Berks, East Sussex, Oxfordshire & Surrey) 
Mona Sehgal. Mobile: 07795 291006. Email: Mona.Sehgal@local.gov.uk 

South East: (Bucks, Hants, IOW, Kent & West Sussex) 
Heather Wills. Mobile: 07770 701188. Email: Heather.Wills@local.gov.uk 
 
South West:  
Andy Bates. Mobile: 07919 562849. Email: Andy.Bates@local.gov.uk 
 
West Midlands: 
Helen Murray. Mobile: 07884 312235. Email: Helen.Murray@local.gov.uk 
 
North West: 
Gill Taylor. Mobile 07789 512173. Email: Gill.Taylor@local.gov.uk 
Neil Shaw. Mobile 07876 688987. Email: Neil.Shaw@local.gov.uk 
 

  

Page 48

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Mark.Edgell@local.gov.uk
mailto:Rachel.Litherland@local.gov.uk
mailto:Heather.Wills@local.gov.uk
mailto:Mona.Sehgal@local.gov.uk
mailto:Heather.Wills@local.gov.uk
mailto:Andy.Bates@local.gov.uk
mailto:Helen.Murray@local.gov.uk
mailto:Gill.Taylor@local.gov.uk


  

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 4





Page 51

Agenda Item 4



Page 52

Agenda Item 4



Page 53

Agenda Item 4



Page 54

Agenda Item 4



Page 55

Agenda Item 4



Page 56

Agenda Item 4



Page 57

Agenda Item 4



4/5/17

Page 58

Agenda Item 4



Page 59

Agenda Item 4



Page 60

Agenda Item 4



Page 61

Agenda Item 4



Page 62

Agenda Item 4



Page 63

Agenda Item 4



Page 64

Agenda Item 4



Page 65

Agenda Item 4



Page 66

Agenda Item 4



Page 67

Agenda Item 4



Page 68

Agenda Item 4



Page 69

Agenda Item 4



Page 70

Agenda Item 4



Page 71

Agenda Item 4



Page 72

Agenda Item 4



Page 73

Agenda Item 4



Page 74

Agenda Item 4



Page 75

Agenda Item 4



Page 76

Agenda Item 4



Page 77

Agenda Item 4



Page 78

Agenda Item 4



Page 79

Agenda Item 4



Page 80

Agenda Item 4



Page 81

Agenda Item 4



Page 82

Agenda Item 4



Page 83

Agenda Item 4



Page 84

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board Meeting   

11 July 2017   

 

     

 
Improvement support to councils around community cohesion, 
counter extremism and Prevent 
 
 
Purpose  
 
For discussion and direction. 
 
 
Summary 
 
Dame Louise Casey CB was commissioned by the government in July 2015 to conduct a 
review into how opportunity and integration could be boosted in the most isolated 
communities. The review’s report was published in December 2016. Dame Casey attended 
the LGA’s Executive in March to discuss its findings and recommendations. This report sets 
out proposals for an improvement programme to support councils in addressing the issues 
identified in the review, and outlines the LGA’s existing improvement work around community 
cohesion, counter-extremism and Prevent.  
 

 
Recommendations 
 
Members are asked to: 

 
1) Note the improvement-related work already underway in the LGA around community 

cohesion, counter extremism and Prevent.  

2) Consider the proposed programme of support for councils to assist them in 
responding to the Casey Review.  

 
Actions 
 
Officers to action members’ comments as appropriate.  
 

 
 

Contact officer:  Mark Norris 

Position: Principal Policy Adviser 

Phone no: 020 7664 3241 

Email: mark.norris@local.gov.uk   

  

Page 85

Agenda Item 5

mailto:mark.norris@local.gov.uk


 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board Meeting   

11 July 2017   

 

     

Improvement support to councils around community cohesion, 
counter extremism and Prevent 

 

Background 

1. Following the murder of Lee Rigby in 2013 the government looked at what was being 
done to confront extremism and radicalisation. This work resulted in provisions in the 
Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 placing a statutory duty on councils and other 
public bodies to prevent people being drawn into terrorism. It also led to the publication 
of the Counter-Extremism Strategy in October 2015. As part of the work associated with 
the Strategy, Louise Casey was asked to conduct a review of how opportunity and 
integration could be boosted in the most isolated communities.  

2. Dame Casey’s review was published in December 2016, and she attended the LGA’s 
Executive in March, following a presentation by her team to the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board in January. In her presentation to the Executive Dame Casey set out 
a number of challenges her review had identified: 

2.1. The need to develop a discourse on the impact of the pace and scale of migration 
that enabled issues to be discussed without dividing those with different views into 
different camps; 

2.2. Settlement patterns that result in communities segregated on a cultural and religious 
basis, which result in people growing up without understanding the nature of the 
country they were living in; 

2.3. Social and economic exclusion that resulted for example in high unemployment 
rates for young black men and poor life chances for white working class 
communities; and 

2.4. The need for political leadership to address these issues that extended beyond the 
leaders of councils, and related to that the need to improve standards in public office 
and the integrity of local government.  

3. Prior to the announcement of the general election, the indications from the Department 
of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) were that a response to the Casey 
Review would be published in the summer or autumn. This was intended to be a cross-
government response focusing on a range of issues in the style of a green or white 
paper. Officials also advised that government was proposing to support this with area 
based work in a number of hotspot areas, using a local/national partnership approach to 
generate new best practice in this field. This suggests funding of a similar scale to the 
‘Building a Stronger Britain Together’ programme which has provided local areas with 
around £3 million in funding so far.  
 

4. Clearly these plans are now subject to any changes in government policy and ministerial 
appointments following the election, and may also be affected by Dame Casey’s 
departure from the civil service in the summer. As a result at this stage it is unclear what 
additional support, if any, there might be for councils, so the working assumption for the 

Page 86

Agenda Item 5

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-casey-review-a-review-into-opportunity-and-integration


 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board Meeting   

11 July 2017   

 

     

moment must be that there will be minimal funding made available from central 
government for local authorities on this agenda.  

Response to the Casey Review  

5. The Executive agreed that the LGA should respond to the Casey Review and develop a 
programme of support for councils to address the challenges outlined at the Executive 
meeting. Councillor Blackburn, as chair of the Safer and Stronger Communities Board, 
was tasked with Group Leaders in developing a response. Subject to the Executive’s 
agenda following the general election it is intended to take proposals to the Executive 
during the summer. These are likely to straddle both the LGA’s policy and improvement 
work. This paper examines the possible strands of improvement work.  

6. Exploratory discussions with a small number of member authorities on what support they 
would find helpful from the LGA, suggest that the opportunity to network and share good 
practice with other councils would assist, with less of an emphasis on publishing further 
guidance. They also provided a clear steer that while peer support would be useful, a 
separate peer review process would not be. There is scope however to look  into 
whether high level analysis of community cohesion issues could be incorporated into the 
LGA’s corporate peer challenge process or improvement support around councils’ 
safeguarding role.  

7. We are keen to ensure that there is other support available for those areas already at the 
forefront of this agenda. We are therefore proposing to bring together a group of councils 
focusing on this with the aim of establishing a peer support network that enables them to 
share and generate ideas and best practice through the medium the group finds most 
effective. We hope to be able to hold a first event in mid-to-late summer 2017.  

8. However, it is much harder to define a specific product or single response that addresses 
the review’s challenge to the sector to support councils and councillors in developing a 
local discourse on integration and cohesion. We propose therefore to undertake informal, 
Chatham House soundings from a number of councillors to help:  

8.1. Identify what are the challenges and barriers to showing leadership in different 
communities (recognising that these may vary) and what type of support would be 
helpful to address this. 

8.2. Develop this into a specific offer that can be tested and refined with support from 
councillors. 

9. Improvement and Innovation Board members’ views are sought on these proposals and 
whether there is any additional improvement support the LGA could provide to councils 
to address the challenges set out in the Casey Review.  

10. The programme of support that is developed will be able to build on work already 
underway to support councils around the community cohesion agenda. After the 
increase in reports of hate crime after the referendum to leave the European Union, the 
LGA provided a range of material on its website that councils could access in work 
around building community cohesion and tackling hate crimes. In preparing that material 
it became clear that the LGA’s existing guidance on community cohesion was over a 

Page 87

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board Meeting   

11 July 2017   

 

     

decade old. This guidance is now being updated in light of the Casey Review and its 
recommendations.  

Support to councils on counter extremism and Prevent 

11. The improvement support for councils around community cohesion will also be able to 
draw on wider work that the LGA has been involved in covering counter extremism and 
the Prevent strategy. Prevent is one of the four strands in the UK’s counter-terrorism 
strategy, and is aimed at stopping people becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism.  

12. The Counter Extremism Unit (CEU) at the Home Office is working with approximately 45 
priority areas to assist them in countering extremism and to tackle radicalisation. The 
LGA has participated in two roundtables with some of these councils and the CEU to 
discuss what support they need. The CEU is also providing funding to the councils to 
employ a community co-ordinator to lead their work. In order to facilitate the sharing of 
knowledge and case studies between these councils a forum has been established for 
them on the Knowledge Hub by the LGA.  

13. Additionally CEU has been working with Luton Council, DCLG and the LGA to create a 
special interest group on counter extremism (SIGCE). The aim of the SIGCE is to share 
good practice between the community coordinators in the first instance, and then it is 
hoped it will provide a forum for sharing good practice more widely across the sector. 
The predecessor to the SIGCE, the special interest group on the English Defence 
League run by Luton and Blackburn-with-Darwen councils during 2013, rapidly grew in 
size because councils found it a convenient means of sharing experiences and seeking 
advice from each other in countering far right activity.     

14. The LGA itself has developed a Leadership Essentials course on countering extremism, 
with the first course being run at the end of February. Two more courses are planned 
over the next year – on 6/7 September and 28/29 September in Leeds and Coventry 
respectively. We have also commissioned guidance from the Centre for Public Scrutiny 
for members on scrutinising Prevent and counter extremism. In addition we have 
commissioned an update to the toolkit on tackling the far right produced by the English 
Defence League special interest group in 2013. Alongside this we have commissioned a 
guide Understanding Islam in Britain. We expect to publish these papers after the LGA’s 
annual conference.   

15. The LGA has also been working with the Office of Security and Counter Terrorism 
(OSCT) at the Home Office around the Prevent Strategy, and the statutory duty on 
councils to prevent people being drawn into terrorism. Given the political sensitivities 
around the Prevent programme in some communities, we have in the main provided 
advice and assistance to the Home Office in designing their support offer to councils 
outside the Prevent priority areas. However after discussions with a previous Security 
Minister, one area where we have worked closely with OSCT is on identifying a cross-
party selection of member peers to act as Prevent Champions. The role of the 
Champions is to raise awareness of the Prevent programme and its objectives to 
safeguard individuals from harm with councillors. To assist with this OSCT has been 
planning to host regional roadshow events for councillors later this year. Whether these 
take place will depend on the outcome of the election and the future government’s views 
on Prevent, but we have been in discussion with officials about developing a Prevent 

Page 88

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Improvement & Innovation  
Board Meeting   

11 July 2017   

 

     

Leadership Essentials course for councillors, which are planned for 1/2 November, 6/7 
December and 20/21 March 2018 in Leeds, Crewe and Coventry respectively.  

Implications for Wales  

16. As Welsh councils are supported by the WLGA on wider improvement issues and the 
Welsh Government is in direct discussion with the Home Office around counter 
extremism and Prevent, any LGA support would be directed at English local authorities.   

Financial Implications 

17. Any improvement support offer to councils will have to be funded. The improvement 
grant for 2017/18 makes specific reference to the LGA leading a work programme 
around community cohesion, counter extremism and Prevent, and the work outlined in 
this paper will be funded from the DCLG improvement grant.  

Next steps 

18. Members are asked to: 

18.1. Note the improvement-related work already underway in the LGA around 
community cohesion, counter extremism and Prevent.  

18.2. Consider the proposed programme of support for councils to assist them in 
responding to the Casey Review.  

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 5





 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

Highlighting Leadership offer: 2016/17 final outturn and 2017/18 
work priorities 

 
Purpose 
 
For information and decision. 
 
Summary 
 
This report updates members on final engagement figures for the 2016/17 Highlighting 
Political Leadership offer and provides, for decision, a proposed work programme for the 
2017/18 session. 
 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
That the Improvement and Innovation Board notes the outturn figures for 2016/17, approves 
the work plan for 2017/18 and offers any comments on the Highlighting Leadership work. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to progress this work in light of the Board’s comments. 
 

 
 
 

Contact officer:  Will Brooks  

Position: Principal Adviser - Leadership and Localism 

Phone no: 0207 664 3053 

Email: william.brooks@local.gov.uk 

 
 
  

Page 91

Agenda Item 6

mailto:william.brooks@local.gov.uk


 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

 

Highlighting Leadership offer: 2016/17 final outturn and 2017/18 
work priorities 

 
Background 
 
1. The LGA’s Highlighting Leadership offer forms part of our wider package of sector-led 

improvement. We offer a range of programmes, events and resources aimed at 
supporting and developing councillors at all levels. Attending our political leadership 
programmes gives councillors a unique opportunity to network with other Members from 
different tiered authorities and often across the political spectrum. Our managerial 
leadership development programme starts by growing future talent with the National 
Graduate Development Programme, through to opportunities for senior officers with the 
Institute of Directors. 

 
2. With feedback from both government and the sector there is an identified need to 

increase our managerial leadership offer to a wider audience. 
 

3. This report provides statistics relating to attendance at our leadership development 
programmes and commentary on the achievements of 2016/17 and sets out the work 
priorities for the 2017/18 session. 

 
Highlighting Political Leadership 
 
4. The LGA continues to offer a wide range of development opportunities for councillors.  

Alongside flagship programmes such as Leadership Academy and Next Generation, the 
LGA offers specialised masterclasses and residential courses on topics such as scrutiny, 
finance, children’s services and sport. Our catalogue of programmes is regularly 
reviewed to ensure that it reflects what is relevant within the public sector and meets the 
needs of councillor attendees. 
 

5. Highlights for 2016/17 included: 
 

5.1. The second highest total of participants in the last ten years of leadership 
programmes – 649 

5.2. Despite a lower overall number of participants compared with 2015/16, engagement 
with programmes has overall increased. 

5.3. There has been a small decrease in gender equality and a small increase in BAME 
participation when compared with last year. 

5.4. 95 per cent of participants said that our programmes ‘fully achieved’ or ‘largely 
achieved’ their objectives. 

5.5. 96 per cent of participants said that attending our programmes made them more 
confident in their leadership role ‘to a great extent’ or ‘to a moderate extent’. 

 

Page 92

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

6. 2016/2017 participation figures on the Leadership Academy (LA), Leadership Essentials 
(LE), Focus on Leadership (FoL), the Leader’s Programme (LEAD), Next Generation 
(NXG) and ‘Leading Edge’ are set out in the tables which follow.   
 

7. Due to all out elections in Wales there was one less Leadership Academy and a reduced 
number of planning programmes. This was due to a charge being introduced for this 
previously fully funded programme.  

 
8. In 2016/17 to date, we have had particular success in terms of increasing the diversity of 

councillors who attend our programme. This is detailed in the table below. 
 
 
Political Leadership development programme bookings 

 

  LA LE Fol LEAD NXG LEDGE Total 

Labour 45 166 56 4 20 3 294 

Conservative 33 143 23 4 15 10 228 

Liberal Democrat 10 21 17 1 14 0 63 

Independent 20 17 12 0 14 1 64 

Total: 108 347 108 9 63 14 649 

          LA LE Fol LEAD NXG LEDGE Total 

East of England 13 37 13 2 8 8 81 

East Midlands 10 26 8 0 6 1 51 

Greater London 9 41 18 1 11 1 81 

North East 3 12 1 1 4 0 21 

North West 6 33 6 2 6 1 54 

South West 15 49 11 0 5 1 81 

South East 16 55 16 2 15 1 105 

Wales 22 0 1 0 2 0 25 

West Midlands 6 52 17 0 4 1 80 

Yorkshire & 
Humber 8 42 17 1 2 0 70 

Total: 108 347 108 9 63 14 649 

          LA LE Fol LEAD NXG LEDGE Total 

District 37 108 40 4 24 8 221 

County 4 34 4 0 7 2 51 

Metropolitan 14 71 28 1 10 0 124 

London 9 41 18 1 11 0 80 

Unitary 22 83 17 3 9 4 138 

Welsh 22 0 1 0 2 0 25 

Fire 0 10 0 0 0 0 10 

Parks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total: 108 347 108 9 63 14 649 

Page 93

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

          LA LE Fol LEAD NXG LEDGE Total 

Male 69 196 66 3 39 14 387 

Female 39 151 42 6 24 0 262 

Total: 108 347 108 9 63 14 649 

        Ethnic Origin 
       White British /  83% (-7%)  

    Black 5% (+3%)  
    Asian 10% (+3%)  
    Mixed Race 1% (=)  
     

 
LA = Leadership Academy   LE = Leadership Essentials 
FoI = Focus on Leadership   LEAD = Leaders Programme 
NXG = Next Generation   LEDGE = Leading Edge 
 
Be a Councillor 
 
9. The LGA’s Highlighting Political Leadership offer provides support and development to 

councillors throughout their local government political career. We also recognise that 
prospective councillors will benefit from access to advice, information and guidance 
before making a decision about whether or not to stand. The ‘Be a Councillor’ campaign 
focusses on raising the profile of the role of a councillor, with the aim that more people 
will choose to stand as a candidate. 
 

10. During 2016/17, the ‘Be a Councillor’ campaign was refreshed to ensure that it remains 
relevant and meaningful in a digital age. A package of resources has been devised and 
made available to councils, so they can create their own bespoke local campaign. 

  
11. We have been engaged with a number of councils over the past year with local 

campaigns run in Rotherham MBC, Lancashire CC, East Sussex CC, West Sussex CC 
and Isle of Wight Council as some examples. We are also in early discussions with a 
number of others. 

 
Leading Edge 

 
12. A successful Leading Edge event was held in conjunction with British Telecom at their 

technology park in Suffolk where a number of leading councillors and senior officers 
came together to look at how the challenges facing local government might be tackled 
with digital and technology solutions. Unsurprisingly one of the major areas of focus was 
cyber security. 

  
Online resources 

 
13. E-learning now has over 8,000 Members and the number of training options available 

continues to grow.  In the last year new modules have been introduced on Influencing 
Skills, Planning and ‘What it’s like to be a Councillor’, as part of the ‘Be a Councillor’ 
campaign. To ensure that our online resources reflect the ongoing changes in local 

Page 94

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

government they are regularly reviewed, and recent revisions have been made to the 
Leadership & Engagement Workbook to take account of devolution and its effects on 
councils and communities.  

 
Highlighting Managerial Leadership 
 
IGNITE 
 
14. We successfully partnered with SOLACE, Collaborate and the RSA to devise the IGNITE 

programme. A programme that is for Chief Executives to help develop their own 
leadership in light of the changing operating context of local government. 

 
15. A small group of Chief Executives have helped shape and develop the programme as it 

has been ongoing. As well as two residential summits, participants took part in 
collaborative learning sets for reflection and had themed sessions discussing health & 
social care, inclusive growth and children/early years services. 

 
16. A further session with Chief Executives will take place at LGA Conference and will 

continue to shape the programme for the coming year. 
 
Commercial Skills 
 
17. Following a successful pilot programme for officers during 2016, the LGA ran a further 

commercial skills programme for senior officers in 2017 in partnership with the Institute of 
Directors. The eight day programme addresses the need for senior officers to understand 
the challenges resulting from the increasing commercialisation of council services and 
the development of local authority trading companies and joint ventures. 

 
National Graduate Development Programme (NGDP) 
 
18. NGDP has continued to grow in popularity and success over the past few years, with 

more councils taking part in the scheme and an increase in application numbers. In 
response to feedback from councils, the scheme has become more flexible to allow for 
recruitment from the local area and current graduates employed by a council. Work has 
also been undertaken to investigate secondment opportunities across different sectors, 
for example with the Civil Service fast track scheme.    

 
19. Cohort 19 assessment centres took place in February and March and once again there 

was a very high calibre of candidates. Informal feedback from candidates has been that 
while the whole assessment process was extremely challenging, the LGA made that 
process as comfortable and efficient as possible, something that hopefully mimics the 
attitude and experiences of actually working within the sector. 

 
20. We had 58 councils sign up to take graduates from Cohort 19 offering in excess of 150 

placements. That is an additional 5 councils and over 50 extra placements.    
 
21. Cohort 18 graduates started with their councils in September 2016 and there are a total 

of 94 graduates working across 53 councils (including the LGA). 
 
 
 

Page 95

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

2017/18 Work Programme 
 
Highlighting Political Leadership 

22. With new Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) targets agreed with DCLG, the work 
programme will be shaped and focus on those. 

Leadership Academy 

23. We will Increase the number of Leadership Academy programmes by at least one, 
possibly two (subject to demand). 

24. Feedback from the Leadership Academy programmes has been good and suggests that 
no major changes to content are required. 

Next Generation 

25. We will increase the number that participate in Next Generation across the political 
groups. Following a collective discussion, the Leadership team and the Political Groups 
felt that it would be helpful to set a broad set of objectives/themes across all the Next 
Generation programmes that would give some common ground through the wider 
programme but still allow for the individual flexibility that allows each group to evolve their 
course in the most appropriate way for their members. We propose that the three themes 
should be ‘Personal Leadership’, ‘Political Leadership’ and ‘Communication and media 
skills’. 

26. We will also explore possible cost savings that might be found through economies of 
scale for sessions that most or all groups wish to run in their programme. 

Leadership Essentials 

27. Feedback from member councils and also directly from Principal Advisors suggested that 
while our modular and residential programmes are of high quality and both well received 
and supported, they take a significant commitment of time and effort from councillors in 
their already very hectic workload. It was suggested that some intense, but practical, one 
day sessions would be welcomed. 

28. We have devised a format which would be an intense, day long, programme, but with a 
focus on practical learning, highly interactive and with a set of tools that members can 
take away at the end of the day and use in their own locality. 

29. In order to get the maximum benefit to members and reduce travel time this format of 
programme would be run in various locations around the country and specifically target 
members from that local area, although any member from wherever in the country would 
be able to attend. 

30. With further investigation we have also identified two areas of development that would be 
desired by members and where there is a current gap in our offer. These are 
‘consultation and engagement’ and ‘collaboration and partnerships’. 

31. We therefore propose to pilot a new Masterclass programme in these two work areas. 
We would run three events in differing locations for each of the themes. For consultation 
and engagement we have already designed the ‘New Conversations Political Leadership 
Masterclass’ and we are still working on developing the Masterclass on ‘collaboration and 
partnerships’. 

Page 96

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

32. Following recent events in both Manchester and London, we will be continuing to offer 
our Leadership Essential programme on Counter Extremism this year. 

33. In addition we will be offering a new Leadership Essentials programme on ‘Prevent’. 
Prevent forms one part of the government’s counter-terrorism strategy (Contest) and the 
Prevent duty under the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 requires all local 
authorities to have “due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into 
terrorism”. This programme complements the successful Counter Extremism course, and 
will look in more detail at councils’ role in countering terrorism. 

Be a Councillor 

34. We will be aiming to work in conjunction with at least 20 councils over the coming year in 
developing their own ‘Be a Councillor’ campaign using the basket of resources we 
refreshed over the past year. 

35. We will specifically be looking to work with London Boroughs over the coming months in 
the lead up to their elections in May 2018 and also start work with councils with elections 
in May 2019 as many candidates, particularly in “target campaigning areas” will be 
selected earlier rather than later. 

Online resources and E-Learning 

36. We will be looking to refresh our whole e-learning and online offer. We will be revising, 
updating or removing all our current workbooks to reflect the current mood. At the same 
time we will be increasing our interactive e-learning modules and linking where 
appropriate with our workbooks and other resources. 

Highlighting Managerial Leadership 

37. As well as continuing with the current programmes we provide, as mentioned in 
paragraphs 14-21, we will be increasing our offer on Managerial Leadership as 
mentioned in paragraph 2. 

IGNITE 

38. Following the successful pilot of the IGNITE programme, we will continue to fund and 
work in partnership with SOLACE to further develop and evolve the programme. In 
discussion with SOLACE we propose to work with around 20 Chief Executives in 
forthcoming programmes and target those that are in the first few years of the role but 
have sufficiently settled into their particular locality and grasped the unique challenges 
they personally face. 

39. It would be a one year programme which combines early diagnostic work, a residential 
summit meeting, then collaborative and policy action learning sets plus, the development 
of Chief Executive led thought leadership. 

 
National Graduate Development Programme (NGDP) 

40. We will continue to offer the same high quality scheme over the coming, but having had 
to recently retender the learning and development aspect of the NGDP scheme, we have 
taken the opportunity to move the focus to more online learning and regional groupings to 
both allow more scalability to meet future council demand and to also reduce overall 
costs. We will continue to monitor this new learning & development aspect to ensure that 
we maintain standards and do not lose aspects of the scheme that have made it 
successful this far. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July 2017 

 

 

Other programmes 

41. We have set aside resources to further collaborate with SOLACE on the delivery of 
managerial leadership programmes. Discussions are ongoing but current thoughts of 
programme development are: 

41.1. To expand and allow more senior officers to take part in the ‘Total Leadership’. This 
programme is pitched at Directors who are looking develop their leadership to move 
up to Chief Executive and would run a cohort of approximately 15. 

41.2. To expand the ‘Transform’ programme. This is a four module programme that is 
aimed at officers that are leading a change programme in their own council. It is 
practically based and helps support them to ensure their real time project is 
successfully delivered. 

41.3. To run a ‘Springboard’ programme that targets under represented people working 
at the top level of local government. The ‘Springboard’ programme already runs to 
identify and develop the managerial rising talent of local government. There is an 
opportunity to simply take more people through that course or to look to develop a 
course that would specifically target for example BAME or female rising talent. 

 
Implications for Wales 
 
42. There are no implications. 
 
 
Financial implications 
 
43. All programmes will be met from existing budgets. 
 
 
Next Steps 

44. Officers will pursue the activities outlined in the light of member guidance. 
 

Page 98

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board 

11 July 2017 

 

     

Innovation Zone at the LGA Annual Conference  

 
Purpose of the report 
 
For discussion. 
 
Summary 
 
To update members, through this report and verbally, on the Innovation Zone at the LGA 
Annual Conference, and invite members’ comments and feedback, which can be taken into 
account for future Zones. 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
That the Improvement & Innovation Board offer any comments on the Innovation Zone, 
which can be taken into account for the future.  
 
Action 
 
Officers to respond as necessary to any comments. 
 

 
 
 

Contact officer:  Vicki Goddard 

Position: Improvement Support Adviser 

Phone no: 020 7664 3078 

Email: vicki.goddard@local.gov.uk 

 

 
 
  

Page 99

Agenda Item 7

mailto:vicki.goddard@local.gov.uk


 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

 

Innovation Zone at LGA annual conference 

 
Background 
 
1. This year is our fifth Innovation Zone organised as an integral part of the LGA Annual 

Conference and Exhibition.  

2. The Board agreed at its meeting in November 2016 to invite examples from the wider 
public sector, not to have subject specific themes in the Zone, and to set up an informal 
advisory group to provide strategic direction to the development of this year’s Zone. 

3. Officers progressed the Zone accordingly, taking on board comments from the advisory 
group, which comprised Councillors Peter Fleming OBE, Judi Billing MBE, Bob Jennings 
and Mayor Dave Hodgson.  

4. The very latest version of the programme is available here until about a month after 
conference. It includes a range of examples of council related innovation, including those 
from the wider public, voluntary, community and private sectors, central government and 
the USA to improve residents’ lives, policy outcomes and efficiencies. 

5. The Zone has been widely publicised ahead of Annual Conference. Adverts and articles 
have been included in the June and July editions of First magazine. We are promoting 
the Zone via Twitter, our two related Knowledge Hub Groups, the annual conference app 
and handbook, the LGA Boards’ and events monthly e-bulletins, Chairman, Chief 
Executive and CommsNet bulletins, and through internal means. Signage at conference 
will also direct delegates to the Zone as part of the LGA Hub stand. 

6. Councillor William Nunn as Chairman of this Board will formally launch the Zone on 4 
July at 12.40 when there will be contributions from: Essex County Council on its 
innovative card game to engage employees in commercial thinking and culture; DCLG, 
Warrington Borough Council and Grimsby on their ambitious, varied regeneration 
projects; Impact Hub’s work with Birmingham City Council to create an Innovation Lab; 
Liverpool City Council’s improvement of public health using behavioural insight to reduce 
sugar consumption, and Newton Europe as the Zone’s official sponsor on their 
collaborative work with north of England health and care leaders to reduce delayed 
transfers of care. 

7. Prior to the formal launch, Councillor Peter Fleming will introduce Stella Duffy, Co-
director, Fun Palaces, who will present a hands-on taster of the workshops they organise 
to support local communities to create and curate their own hyper-local events, using 
culture (arts, science, tech, digital, crafts, sport) as a catalyst for community engagement. 

8. The remainder of the Tuesday and Wednesday programme is dedicated to showcasing a 
wide range of innovations relevant to councils, loosely connected by the overarching 
Zone theme of ‘disruption’ as suggested by Councillor Fleming – doing things differently, 
from questioning the status quo, removing barriers, exploring limitless possibilities to 
taking bold steps to achieve better results. 

 

Page 100

Agenda Item 7

https://lgaevents.local.gov.uk/lga/frontend/reg/tOtherPage.csp?pageID=68844&ef_sel_menu=1571&eventID=228&eventID=228


 

 

Improvement & Innovation 
Board  

11 July 2017 

 

     

9. The Zone’s third and final day will include a main session by New Urban Mechanics from 
Boston, USA, who will showcase how they are making civic life more meaningful for more 
people, working across departments and with communities, from encouraging safer 
driving to engaging people in the design of urban housing. 

10. Over 34 innovations relevant to councils will have been directly showcased, with 
references to other councils and organisations involved in innovative work.  

11. After conference, we will add council innovations from the Zone to the case studies 
section of our website, which now includes over 1000 examples. Highlights from the Zone 
will also feature in the August edition of First magazine.  

12. A verbal update on how the Zone actually went will be given at the meeting. 

Implications for Wales 1 

13. None 

Financial Implications 

14. None 

Next steps 

15. Members are asked to: 

15.1. note this report 

15.2. share their views on how the Zone went from their perspective.  

 

                                                           
1
 The WLGA pays a membership fee to the LGA on behalf of all Welsh councils and we lobby for them on “non-devolved” issues 

- e.g. DWP work.  The WLGA provides “top-slice” for workforce support, but none for “improvement”.  Page 101

Agenda Item 7

http://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies




 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board 

11 July 2017 

 

     

 
 
LGA Boards’ improvement activity  
 
 
Purpose 
 
For information. 
 
Summary 
 
To present a progress report on improvement activity undertaken by other LGA Boards. 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
That the Improvement & Innovation Board are asked to note the progress report on 
improvement activity undertaken by other LGA Boards. 
 
Action  
 
Officers to respond as necessary to any comments. 
 

 
 

Contact officer:  Vicki Goddard  

Position: Improvement Support Adviser  

Phone no: 0207 664 3078 

Email: vicki.goddard@local.gov.uk  

Page 103

Agenda Item 8

mailto:vicki.goddard@local.gov.uk


 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

LGA Boards’ improvement activity 

 
Background 

1. Members have agreed that it is important for this Board to retain a strategic or 
‘overarching’ perspective on the improvement activity currently undertaken across LGA 
Boards. This will help ensure consistency with the key principles underpinning the 
approach to sector-led improvement and help avoid any potential duplication. 

 
2. To achieve this: 
 

2.1. officers coordinate the flow of business through the Boards so that the Improvement 
and Innovation Board can be invited to express strategic views about any significant 
improvement issues put before other boards 

2.2. during the year the Improvement and Innovation Board receives suitably timed 
progress reports on the major improvement programmes 

2.3. as far as possible, the Improvement and Innovation Board meets towards the end of 
each cycle of meetings so it can consider any significant issues put before other 
Boards and then report back to Boards at their next meeting. 

 
3. A progress report drawing together a summary of significant improvement activity led by 

other LGA Board’s since this was last reported is set out in the attached Appendix 1. 
 
Implications for Wales 
 
4. There are no implications for Wales.  

 
Financial implications 
 
5. There are no additional financial implications arising from this report. 
 
Next steps 

 
6. Subject to members’ views, officers will continue to brief the Board on the latest 

improvement activities across all LGA Boards. 

Page 104

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

Appendix 1 

Progress report 

1. This progress report draws together a summary of significant improvement activity led by 
other LGA Boards since this was last reported to this Board in March 2017: 

City Regions, and People and Places Boards 

2. The LGA’s work on devolution is led by the City Regions, and People and Places Boards. 
Under their direction, the LGA has sought to support councils with their devolution 
ambitions, with activity primarily focussing on: negotiating deals, moving from a deal to 
implementation, sharing knowledge and best practice. Recent activity has included: 

2.1. supporting combined authorities (CAs) and mayoral candidates in the run-up to local 
elections: 

2.1.1. working with mayoral candidates through the political group offices to ensure 
successful candidates were able to hit the ground running and feel part of the 
local government family  

2.1.2. supported the Department for Communities and Local Government, and the 
Electoral Commission in the roll-out of their campaigns to raise awareness of 
local elections, especially in CA areas 

2.1.3. hosted the April meeting of the CA chief executives’ network to share 
preparations for elections and plan for working with mayors 

2.1.4. piloting a self-assessment diagnostic tool for CAs in advance of a future peer 
challenge offer 

2.2. establishing a mayoral support offer: 

2.2.1. convening the first meeting of new mayors/deputy mayors since their election. 
This mayoral forum offered the chance for CA mayors to meet senior civil 
servants from Whitehall to discuss their role in driving economic growth and 
provided an opportunity to build links with commonwealth mayors and discuss 
international trade and investment. The LGA will convene a further meeting (at 
the mayors’ request) in the Autumn 

2.2.2. establishing a mayoral secretariat with dedicated officer capacity to: facilitate 
engagement between mayoral CAs and Whitehall, coordinate briefings and 
research of shared interest to the mayoral CAs, arrange ministerial meetings 
for the mayors and, where required, the leaders of CA member councils. It will 
also advise on external support offers 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

2.3. working with Universities UK and the Higher Education Funding Council for England 
to: 

2.3.1. complete the pilot phase of the Leading Places project, which aims to 
strengthen and develop place-based collaborative leadership between the 
local government and higher education sectors, at a national event on 28 
March attended by over 100 delegates 

2.3.2. launched phase two of Leading Places, following a call for expressions of 
interest; the project is now live in 15 areas 

2.3.3. supported the delivery of the first phase of the Local Growth Academy, a 
collaborative leadership development programme aimed at the higher 
education and local government sectors, now planning for second phase to be 
launched in November 

2.4. continuing to develop and deliver our bespoke support offer to areas looking to 
secure and advance local devolution, including: leadership support, overview and 
scrutiny support, policy development, communications and negotiations with 
Whitehall. 

Community Wellbeing Board 

3. We published updated ‘must knows’ for new lead members of adult social care on 
integration, use of resources and performance and a new must know on Sustainability 
and Transformation Plans (STPs). The 'must knows' are a long-standing source of 
information and support and focuses on the key issues facing portfolio holders, reviewed 
on a rolling basis.  

4. A joint publication with the Association of Directors of Social Services (ADASS), the 
National Trading Standards (NTS) Scams Team and the Adult Principal Social Worker 
Network (APSWN), outlines how to recognise and respond to the signs of financial 
abuse, and the effects of scams as part of local safeguarding activity, with a focus on the 
key roles of councillors and Health and Wellbeing Boards.  

5. An induction for new lead leaders of care and health will be held jointly with the Care and 
Health Improvement Programme (CHIP) on 18 July. 

Care and Health Improvement Programme (CHIP) 

6. CHIP is the sector-led improvement programme for adult social care (ASC) and health. It 
is funded mainly by the Department of Health (DH) with contributions from the NHS for 
some digital activity and Transforming Care. DH has agreed to continue that funding until 
March 2020 based on a set of priorities around risk and resilience, effective care and 
health systems and our contribution to the Transforming Care Programme. 

7. Insight and activity from January to June 2017 includes the following: 

Page 106

Agenda Item 8

https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/social-care-health-and-integration/adult-social-care/lead-member-development
https://www.adass.org.uk/top-tips-financial-abuse-and-scams


 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

7.1. We continue with preparations to roll out Better Care Fund (BCF)/integration support 
when the guidance goes live. We have launched the Better Care 
Advisers/Multidisciplinary Consultants (BCA/MDC) Support Programme. This is 
designed to ensure councils and their partners develop a compliant BCF plan and/or 
progress integration locally. We are currently processing 20 requests but 
implementation is contingent on publication of the planning guidance. 

7.2. We ran five facilitated integration tool workshops with the NHS Confederation with 
more planned for 2017/18. These are part of our support package to assist areas 
assess their readiness for the integration of care and health services and develop 
plans. 

7.3. Our ongoing support of HWBs is showing that a significant number of them have 
reasserted a focus on the wider determinants of health and their place-based 
leadership role, recognising a need to provide the compelling strategic context for 
STPs and an important base to achieving a more sustainable care and health system. 
This involves working with boards across the STP footprint and widening membership 
to include police, fire, housing providers, etc. Links between the economy, 
employment, housing, growth and wellbeing are seen by many as a key element of 
this approach. 

7.4. Elsewhere, requests for support on funding flows increase. This was one of the most 
frequent requests raised through the learning disability commissioners’ survey and is 
a recurring issue across transforming care systems. Lack of security was also a 
recurring theme identified through the Safeguarding Adults Boards Chairs self-audit 
on the Care Act. Our national finance Care and Health Improvement Adviser (CHIA) 
worked to better understand the underlying factors and devise appropriate local 
solutions. We now offer finance support to some council partners, including joint 
workshops with NHS England (NHSE) to support work to unblock issues around the 
funding flows. We have also co-produced a national finance template in partnership 
with NHSE to establish funding position of councils, enabling targeted support and 
continued national discussions.  

7.5. We have published an updated Risk Awareness Tool (complementing Association of 
Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) and Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) tools). We have repositioned the tool as the main 
methodology for ASC risks and have linked it to other tools/offers in the sector. Our 
CHIAs are promoting the tool to support DASSs and senior leaders to target 
resources on the most pressing needs, ensure political and executive leaders are well 
informed for their decision making duties and that ADASS regions can focus their 
sector-led improvement activity to areas in most need. We have also delivered some 
bespoke support on managing and mitigating financial risk with some challenged 
councils where requested. We have also launched a facilitated risk awareness self-
assessment support offer. 

7.6. Separately, demand remains high for facilitated, tailored sessions on financial risk. 
This is revealing that financial risk is inextricably linked with, and creating pressure 

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

on, other areas of ASC risk particularly workforce, markets, managing demand, 
prevention and commissioning. 

7.7. Our work on commissioning continues to develop. We hosted national market 
shaping event and planning social care delivery with Public Sector Transformation 
Academy/Whitehall and Industry Group with over 70 commissioners and care 
providers attending. We have commissioned a third party to develop the Integrated 
Commissioning for Better Outcomes (iCBO) framework supported by a reference 
group of councils and Clinical Commissioning Groups. We also took up coordinator 
responsibilities as part of Quality Matters Action Plan, leading on the CBO priority. 

7.8. The updated High Impact Change Model was also published with inclusion in the 
BCF national conditions highlighting it’s significance in supporting local health and 
care systems. Again, our CHIAs will be promoting the benefits of the tool’s practical 
support on patient flow and discharge and assessment of systems’ current 
effectiveness and consideration of new interventions. The reported numbers of 
delayed transfers of care (DToCs) remain high in comparison to previous years. We 
continue to work with system partners to deliver a coordinated support offer that is of 
benefit in the short, medium and long term. 

7.9. Our efficiency work has received NHS approval for a new project building on the 
health and care system efficiencies work to support system leaders in the north to 
develop a more sustainable model with reduced DToCs. The first of three detailed 
assessments revealed that a lack of understanding and trust between partner 
organisations, process focus rather than patient focus and complexity of systems and 
pathways are causes of delays to care transfers. 

7.10. Final evaluation visits with the ten councils participating in the efficiency project 
were conducted with learning to be shared through forthcoming events and 
workshops. A report on the findings will be published in due course. 

7.11. The first two cross system health and care peer challenge pilots were completed. 
Evaluation of the methodology and future approach for the learning 
disability/Transforming Care peer review methodology is also underway. 

7.12. For the fourth year, we ran the popular Annual HWB Chair and Vice Chair summit 
with NHS Clinical Commissioners attracting over 60 delegates. 

7.13. Highlights of our NHS funded digital and information work include: 

7.13.1. Launch of the updated Social Care Digital Maturity Self-Assessment with 
councils following co-design with the sector. In a similar approach to last year, 
this is a voluntary self-assessment for councils to help them understand their 
local progress and consider local priorities. Self-assessment also includes 
guidance and case studies to support knowledge sharing across the sector. It 
closed at the end of June with 93 councils signed up as of 9 June. We will 
work closely with councils to support them in use and adoption. 

Page 108

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

7.13.2. Launch of the Digital Local Investment Programme in partnership with NHS 
Digital. This is providing £750,000 to support digital activity across social care. 
76 applications were received from councils and they have been reviewed by 
the LGA, DH, NHS Digital with external input from Kings Fund and technical 
input from Socitm (Society of IT Managers). 15 councils are to receive 
investment funds of up to £50,000. 

Culture, Tourism and Sport (CTS) Board 

8. An Archives, Libraries and Museums peer challenge took place in Herefordshire Council 
in May 2017. 

9. We are publishing a councillor handbook on library services, to help councils to plan the 
future of their services and learn from innovative practice in other councils. As part of our 
work with the Libraries Taskforce, we have also commissioned the development of a 
benchmarking framework for library services, based on sector best practice, to help 
library services to self-assess their performance and identify areas for improvement.  

10. A Leadership Essentials Sport event took place on 22 and 23 June 2017, and Arts 
Council England has confirmed funding for two further Leadership Essentials Culture 
events on 25 and 26 October 2017, and 7 and 8 December 2017. 

11. Discussions are also ongoing with Arts Council England and Sport England to secure 
further funding to deliver a culture and sport improvement programme during 2017/18. 

Environment, Economy, Housing and Transport (EEHT) Board 

Housing 

12. The LGA has completed a project and launched a report looking at the different ways that 
councils can enable housing growth, jointly with the Town and Country Planning 
Association. This includes, for instance, practice in establishing a housing company, 
supporting community land trusts, entering into a joint venture with housing associations 
and private developers, and engaging communities in shaping new development. 

13. The LGA is close to completing a project investigating, capturing and presenting council 
innovation in providing temporary accommodation (TA). The use of TA is rising across 
the country and is becoming financially unsustainable for more councils. The project 
captures innovations in reducing the demand for TA, in sourcing new TA – for instance 
through acquiring and converting property, or constructing new property – or in finding 
alternatives to TA. The final report and toolkits will be launched shortly, and there will be 
a learning event in September. 

14. The LGA is close to completing a project looking at how councils can meet the housing 
need of an ageing population, in ways that integrate housing with health and care. This 
includes examples of councils engaging older people, using the planning system to 
understand demographic demand, enabling and shaping a market to deliver age-friendly 
homes and places, and helping deliver new models of supported and extra care housing. 

Page 109

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

15. The LGA is planning the launch of a Housing Advisers Programme to provide expert 
advice and support for councils seeking to innovate or improve in the direct or indirect 
delivery of new homes, in planning for new homes, and in adapting and responding to 
homelessness. The programme will require participating councils and advisers to write up 
the learning experience to be included in wider LGA improvement activity, events and 
promotions. The programme hopes to launch shortly. 

16. The LGA is currently scoping other sector-wide learning projects to support councils to 
respond to and meet local housing need to be delivered over the course of 2017/18. 

17. The LGA is running 8 free housing peer challenges, and will offer housing peer 
challenges as part of its wider sector-led improvement offer. 

Unlocking Growth through Partnership 

18. Following joint study visits to Southampton and Milton Keynes councils, the LGA and 
British Property Federation launched a good practice report on local development, growth 
and regeneration through successful public/private collaboration at an event attended by 
leaders from local government, the development and investment industries and central 
government. The report includes recommendations for councils, development industry 
and central Government. 

Safer and Stronger Communities Board 

Modern Slavery 

19. The LGA has been working since January with the Independent Anti-Slavery 
Commissioner’s office on producing a guide for councillors on modern slavery. The aim 
of the guide will be to provide a high level overview to support councils to: 

19.1. recognise modern slavery in their local areas 

19.2. refer it appropriately 

19.3. spot potential victims of modern slavery, both adults and children, and support them 
appropriately 

19.4. recognise and use their tools and powers to disrupt the activities of serious and 
organised crime groups and individuals exploiting people 

19.5. successfully work in partnership to end modern slavery in their local area. 

20. The LGA and Independent Anti-Slavery Commissioner’s office have worked to create an 
expert reference group to help inform the guide, bringing together expertise from a wide 
variety or policy areas to reflect the wide-ranging nature of modern slavery. The guide is 
currently being drafted and should be published in the autumn. 

 

Page 110

Agenda Item 8

http://www.bpf.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/BPF-LGA-unlocking-growth-through-partnership.PDF
http://www.bpf.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/BPF-LGA-unlocking-growth-through-partnership.PDF


 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs) 

21. PSPOs, introduced in 2014, sit amongst a broad range of powers and tools to help tackle 
anti-social behaviour locally. We have now published guidance for councils on using 
PSPOs, which sets out the issues to consider where local areas are contemplating 
introducing a PSPO, and offers practical guidance on the steps to take if councils choose 
to do so. 

Taxi/Private Hire Vehicles (PHVs) licensing – national register and ongoing lobbying 

22. There has been significant progress since March in regard to a national register of 
taxi/PHV drivers who have had licenses revoked or refused, with the LGA having 
commissioned the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) to begin development of a 
national register of taxi license refusals and revocations. This will be managed, 
maintained and hosted by NAFN on behalf of all local authorities. NAFN is a not-for-profit 
shared service hosted by Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council, which exists to 
support its members in protecting the public interest. 

23. The register will be available at no extra cost to all local authorities already signed up to 
NAFN’s existing data and intelligence services, which is currently 86 per cent of English 
and Welsh councils. For those councils not already signed up, subscription will cost 
£1,000 and can be recouped through taxi/PHV license fees, ensuring that access will be 
cost neutral to authorities. We would welcome Board support in ensuring that all councils 
make use of the register once it is available. 

24. The register will support councils to tackle the problem of individuals making applications 
to different licensing authorities following a refusal or revocation elsewhere, and offers a 
national response to an issue that extends beyond individual regions.  

25. The project launched earlier this month and is intended to be complete by the end of 
2017; further updates will be shared with the Board as the project develops. 

Resources Board 

Finance 

Business Rates Retention 

26. Before the general election was announced, in late March and early April, we held six 
regional events jointly with DCLG on the further business rates retention consultation and 
Fair Funding Review. In total, around 270 councillors and officers attended the sessions, 
and presentations from the events are available on our website. Although the 
Government paused work on further business rates retention in the run-up to the general 
election, DCLG remained keen to receive responses to the second stage consultation, 
which closed in May. Our LGA response emphasised the importance of flexibility in the 
design of the scheme and highlighted the need for the Government to publish modelling 
of differing scenarios. 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 8

https://www.local.gov.uk/public-spaces-protection-orders-guidance-councils
http://links.govdelivery.com/track?type=click&enid=ZWFzPTEmbXNpZD0mYXVpZD0mbWFpbGluZ2lkPTIwMTcwNDEzLjcyMjg1OTIxJm1lc3NhZ2VpZD1NREItUFJELUJVTC0yMDE3MDQxMy43MjI4NTkyMSZkYXRhYmFzZWlkPTEwMDEmc2VyaWFsPTE2OTE3NTExJmVtYWlsaWQ9amFtZXMuYWxleGFuZHJlQGxvY2FsLmdvdi51ayZ1c2VyaWQ9amFtZXMuYWxleGFuZHJlQGxvY2FsLmdvdi51ayZ0YXJnZXRpZD0mZmw9JmV4dHJhPU11bHRpdmFyaWF0ZUlkPSYmJg==&&&115&&&https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/100-business-rates-retention-further-consultation-on-the-design-of-the-reformed-system
http://links.govdelivery.com/track?type=click&enid=ZWFzPTEmbXNpZD0mYXVpZD0mbWFpbGluZ2lkPTIwMTcwNDEzLjcyMjg1OTIxJm1lc3NhZ2VpZD1NREItUFJELUJVTC0yMDE3MDQxMy43MjI4NTkyMSZkYXRhYmFzZWlkPTEwMDEmc2VyaWFsPTE2OTE3NTExJmVtYWlsaWQ9amFtZXMuYWxleGFuZHJlQGxvY2FsLmdvdi51ayZ1c2VyaWQ9amFtZXMuYWxleGFuZHJlQGxvY2FsLmdvdi51ayZ0YXJnZXRpZD0mZmw9JmV4dHJhPU11bHRpdmFyaWF0ZUlkPSYmJg==&&&116&&&http://www.local.gov.uk/events/past-event-presentations
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/100-business-rates-retention-further-consultation-design


 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

Workforce 

Social Work 
 
27. The Come Back to Social Work programme has now been completed, and candidates 

are currently being matched with councils across England. All the candidates had taken a 
career break and were finding it difficult to access the right training and support to come 
back to work. The campaign has been shortlisted for a national HR award. The workforce 
team is working with Wiltshire Council to develop a training programme for managers 
who will be managing people returning to work in social care. This research should be 
available later this year. The recent focus on helping women back into work following a 
career break has been given a boost with the Budget announcement that £5m will go 
towards extending return to work schemes to all levels of management.  

Flexible working 
 
28. The workforce team has been working with the councils in Nottinghamshire to become a 

Flexible Hiring region. This has been through the LGA Timewise Council offer, which has 
now extended to over 25 councils in England. The Nottinghamshire councils are coming 
together to adapt the way they recruit, attract talent into the area and drive inclusive 
growth in the process. They have met with the Local Enterprise Partnership to agree on a 
formal launch for the end of the year. 

Performance Management 
 
29. Thirty councils attended an LGA workforce event in March sharing good practice on 

performance management and exploring ways to embed effective performance 
management tools and cultures to drive up productivity. 

Events 

30. The workforce team held its popular annual employment law event in February. The 
event was attended by over 80 delegates. The overall feedback from delegates was 
excellent. The two education HR conferences were once again held in London and York 
in June. In total, more than 110 delegates attended, and initial feedback has been 
positive. 

Career development and role profiles 

31. The workforce team has recently completed the development of a set of benchmark role 
profiles for care commissioning roles with the trade unions. The profiles include indicative 
job evaluation scores and are designed to help councils assess their local role profiles 
and ensure that they offer good career structures to aid recruitment and retention. 

 

 

Health and Care integration 

Page 112

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Improvement & 
Innovation Board  

11 July 2017 

 

 
 

     

32. The workforce team has recently completed a project with the Department of Health, 
Skills for Care and others to provide a summary and analysis of the workforce challenges 
and solutions in a variety of models of integration. Publication was delayed by the 
General Election. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 8



E3 LAYDEN HOUSE BY RAIL 

Thameslink - Farnngdon, Barbican 

(Restricted service), City Thameslink 

&
LAYDEN HOUSE BY UNDERGROUND 

Circle/ Metropolitan/ Hammersmith & City -

Farringdon, Barbican 

Central Line - Chancery lane 

LAYDEN HOUSE BY BUS 

63, 55, 38,259 

Layden House

76-86 Turnmill Street,
London
EC1 M 5LG

Tel: 020 7664 3000 Fax: 020 7664 3030

*The Local Government Association will be based at Layden House whilst refurbishment takes place at their offices in Smith Square.

Public Transport
Layden House is served well by public transport. The 
nearest mainline station is Farringdon (Circle, Hammersmith & City and Metropolitan Lines. It also has Overground lines)
Bus routes - Farringdon Station
63 - Kings Cross - Crystal Palace Parade (Stop A/B)
55 - Oxford Circus -High Road Leyton (Stop E/K)
243 - Redvers Road - Waterloo Bridge (Stop E/K)

Cycling Facilties
The nearest Santander Cycle Hire racks are on Theobold's Road. 
For more information please go to www.tfl.gov.uk

Car Parks
Smithfield Car Park - EC1A 9DY
NCP Car Park London Saffron Hill - EC1N 8XA

Page 114


	Agenda
	2 Note of the Previous Meeting
	3 Productivity Programme
	4 Performance Report and MOU for 2017/18
	DCLG End of Year Report 2017 - 30 June
	172504 - SLI  MOU 2017-18  - FINAL

	5 Improvement support to councils around community cohesion, counter extremism and Prevent
	6 Highlighting Leadership offer: 2016/17 final outturn and 2017/18 work priorities
	7 Innovation Zone at LGA annual conference
	8 LGA Boards' improvement activity
	 



